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REVENUE (RMB'000)
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TWO-YEAR COMPARISON OF FINANCIAL FIGURES
For the year ended 31 December

2014 2013 Change
RMB’000 RMB’'000 (%)
Revenue 1,300,119 1,350,271 -3.7%
Gross profit 344,894 309,771 11.3%
EBITDA 161,785 88,498 82.8%
Profit attributable to equity holders 101,313 36,868 174.8%
Shareholders’ equity 726,695 673,000 8.0%
Total assets 1,628,064 1,584,014 2.8%
Earnings per share — basic (RMB) 0.25 0.09 177.8%
SUMMARY OF KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
For the year ended 31 December
Change
2014 2013 (%)
Gross profit margin Mot ’ 26.5% 22.9% 15.7%
Net profit margin "ete? 7.8% 2.7% 188.9%
Inventory turnover days "ot 98.3 97.9 0.4%
Debtors’ turnover days et 4 130.2 153.4 -15.1%
Creditors’ turnover days "ete® 78.3 76.6 2.2%
Current ratio (Times) Nt 1.5 1.4 7.1%
Quick ratio (Times) Nete” 1.2 1.1 9.1%
Gearing ratio (%) o8 24.7% 23.2% 6.5%
EBITDA/Finance costs (Times) Vot ? 17.6 11.1 58.6%
Return on equity (%) Nete 10 13.9% 5.5% 152.7%

Note 1: Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue.

Note 2: Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders divided by revenue.

Note 3: Inventory turnover days is calculated as the ending inventory divided by cost of revenue and multiplied by 365
days.

Note 4: Debtors’ turnover days is calculated as the ending trade debtors divided by revenue and multiplied by 365 days.

Note 5. Creditors’ turnover days is calculated as the ending trade creditors divided by cost of sales and multiplied by 365
days.

Note 6:  Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current liabilities at the end of the corresponding
year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as a percentage.

Note 7: Quick ratio is calculated as total current assets excluding inventories divided by total current liabilities at the
end of the corresponding year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as a
percentage.

Note 8: Gearing ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total assets at the end of the year. Total debts refer to total
interest bearing liabilities at the end of the year.

Note 9: EBITDA/Finance costs is calculated as earnings before finance costs, taxation, depreciation and amortization
divided by finance costs for the year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as
a percentage.

Note 10: Return on equity is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders divided by total shareholders’ equity at the

end of the corresponding year.
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Chairman’s Statement

Chu Chih-Yaung

| hereby present on behalf of the board (the
"Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) to the
shareholders the report on the results of Good
Friend International Holdings Inc. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2014 (the

year"”).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,300.12
million, representing a decrease of approximately
3.7% compared to the previous year. Whilst profit
attributable to equity holders for the year amounted
to approximately RMB101.31 million, representing
an increase of approximately 174.80% compared to
RMB36.87 million in 2013.

Chairman

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board proposed, subject to approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 29 May
2015, a final dividend of RMBO0.06 (equivalent to
approximately HK$0.0758 according to the average
mean rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars as
announced by the People’s Bank of China on
27 March 2015) per share for the year ended 31
December 2014, amounting to RMB24.19 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$30.56 million)
payable to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 10 June 2015. The payment date of the

final dividend will be announced later.



BUSINESS REVIEW

The global economy saw sluggish growth in 2014
and China’s economic growth continued to slow
down. According to the data released by the
National Bureau of Statistics of China, the gross
domestic product (GDP) of China grew by 7.4% year
on year in 2014. The year-on-year growth slowed
down further, marking the slowest growth rate
since 1990. China has entered into a new economic
norm, switching from fast growth to medium to
fast growth. The mainstream product of the Group
CNC machine tools focus mainly on the China
market. Sales orders for the Group’'s CNC machine
tools business were also affected by that. For the
year ended 31 December 2014, sales volume and
sales revenue of CNC machine tools amounted to
2,102 units and approximately RMB964.77 million
respectively, both representing a decrease when
compared to 2013. Nevertheless, the gross profit
margin of CNC machine tools business increased
to approximately 30.5% during the year. This was
attributable to the decrease of the raw material

prices during the year.
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Despite being affected by the slowdown of China’s
economic growth, the Group’s high-end CNC
machine tools products still recorded satisfactory
sales revenue during the year. Sales revenue of
double column machining centre (manufactured
at factory in Hangzhou) and milling and machining
centre (manufactured by lItalian vendors) amounted
to approximately RMB140.51 million for the year,
and accounted for approximately 14.6% of sales
revenue of the Group’s CNC machine tools
business. These high-end products could optimise
the product portfolio of the Group, and strengthen

its core competitiveness.

On the other hand, FFG Werke GmbH (("FFG
Werke"), an entity incorporated in Germany), in
which the Group holds a 13.50% equity interest,
recorded encouraging results in its turnover and
operating performance in 2014 which was its first
year of operations. The management believes
that FFG Werke would be beneficial to the future
business development as well as the results of
the Group; whilst those renowned machines tools
brands under FFG Werke
the product portfolio of the Group. Moreover, the

could further enhance

Group has incorporated a wholly-owned entity at
the China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone in 2014.
The activities of this Shanghai entity is mainly in
exploring and selling the high-end machine tools
brands of FFG Werke (including “Huller Hille”) to

customers in China.
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Chairman’s Statement

A Head Office
A Liaison Office




PROSPECTS

In 2015, the China government will step up efforts
in the structural adjustment of the economy and
implement proactive fiscal policy and relatively
relaxed monetary policy, so as to maintain the
steady development of the economy. A year-on-year
GDP growth rate of about 7% is anticipated. China
is the largest machine tools consuming country.
The formulation of the 12th Five Year Plan (2011-
2015) by the central government of China would
stimulate the demand of machine tools from the
industries of high-speed railway, aerospace, motor
vehicle and energy, especially demand of those hi-
tech CNC machine tools. This in turmn will benefit
the Group’s CNC machine tools business. The
management believes that with its extensive sales
network and comprehensive after-sales service, solid
business foundation as well as outstanding product
quality, the Group is capable of meeting customers’
different needs and continue to strengthen its

market position.

It is expected the operating environment in 2015
will still bring enormous challenges. With the
current business environment, the Group will
continue to strengthen its business foundation
under a consistent and cautions manner under a
tough market environment in order to maintain
the Group's competitiveness. The management is
optimistic on the long-term development prospects

of the Group.
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The management will also strive to control
operating costs for achieving better operating
results as well as to maintain sound financial
conditions, in order to bring favorable returns to the

shareholders of the Company.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all the
staff and management team for their hard work in
the past year. | would also like to express heartfelt

thanks to all of the customers and suppliers.

Chu Chih-Yaung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 March 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,300.12
million, representing a decrease of approximately
3.7% as compared to 2013. During the year, sales
volume of CNC machine tools, parking garage
structures and forklift trucks amounted to 2,102
units, 13,215 units and 1,997 units respectively (2013
comparative figures: 2,073 units, 12,396 units and
2,221 units). CNC machine tools remained the major
source of the Group's revenue. During the year,
sales revenue of the CNC machine tools business
amounted to approximately RMB%64.77 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.7%
as compared to 2013. Revenue of CNC machine
tools accounted for approximately 74.2% of the
Group's total revenue. On the other hand, sales
revenue of forklift trucks amounted to approximately
RMB129.54 million during the year, representing
a decrease of approximately 11.2% as compared
to 2013 and accounted for approximately 10% of
the total revenue. Moreover, sales revenue of the
Group's parking garage structures business during
the year was increased by approximately 1.6%, as
compared to 2013, to approximately RMB205.81
million and approximately 15.8% of the Group's

total revenue.

Gross profit and margin

For the year ended 31 December 2014, gross
profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB344.89 million. Overall gross profit margin was
approximately 26.5%, compared to 22.9% for 2013.
The gross profit margin of CNC machine tools (the
Group's major product) during the year increased
as compared to 2013. As a result, the overall gross

profit margin for the year increased.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses amounted to
approximately RMB129.48 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014 representing a decrease
of 12.2% as compared to last year. This was
mainly attributable to the stringent control of the
corresponding expenses by the management.
During the year, distribution and selling expenses as
a percentage of the Group's revenue amounted to
approximately 10.0%, compared to approximately
10.9% for 2013.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2014 increased by approximately 15.7%
as compared to 2013. This was mainly attributable
to the increase of the allowance for bad and

doubtful debts.



Finance costs

During the year, finance costs increased to
approximately RMB9.17 million. The increase was
primarily due to the increase of average bank

borrowings of the Group during 2014.

Share of loss of an associate

For the year ended 31 December 2014, share of
loss of an associate amounted to approximately
RMBB8.56 million. The amount represented the
Group's share of loss of the associate "FFG
Europe”, located in ltaly, during the year. The
decrease of the share of loss was due to the
significant improvement of the operating results of

FFG Europe during the year.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company

For the year ended 31 December 2014, profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB101.31 million,
representing an increase of approximately 174.8%

as compared to 2013.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had net
current assets of approximately RMB440.43 million
(2013: RMB361.66 million), shareholders’ fund of
approximately RMB726.70 million (2013: RMB673.00
million) and short-term bank borrowings of
approximately RMB402.08 million (2013: RMB367.75
million). The Group's working capital was financed
by internal cash flows generated from its operation

and existing banking facilities.

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2014
amounted to approximately RMB262.75 million
(2013: RMB211.83 million). The current ratio (ratio
of total current assets to total current liabilities) of
the Group was approximately 1.5 times (2013: 1.4
times). The gearing ratio (ratio of total debts to
total assets) was approximately 24.7% (2013: 23.2%),
indicating that the Group continued to maintain a

solid financial position.

1
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY
POLICIES

The share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2014 was HK$4,032,000 divided
into 403,200,000 shares of HK$0.01 each (at 31
December 2013: HK$4,032,000 divided into
403,200,000 shares of HK$0.01 each).

The Group generally finances its operations with
internally generated cash flows and loans facilities
provided by banks. As of 31 December 2014, the
total outstanding short-term borrowings stood at
approximately RMB402.08 million (2013: RMB367.75
million). Borrowing methods used by the Group
mainly include bank loans. The Group had no

interest rate hedging arrangements during the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group had no significant investment held for
the year ended 31 December 2014.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries or associates during the year ended
31 December 2014.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information for the year ended
31 December 2014 are set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2014, the Group employed
a total of 1,500 (2013: 1,400) full-time employees
in Hong Kong and China. The total staff costs
(including Directors’ fee and emoluments)
amounted to approximately RMB130.14 million
(2013: RMB123.70 million). The salary review policies
of the Group are determined with reference to the
market trends, future plans and the performance
of individuals in various aspects and are reviewed

periodically.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
for the purpose of providing incentive and rewards
to eligible participants for their contributions to the
Group. No share option was granted by the Group

since its adoption.



The employees of the Company's subsidiaries join a
state-managed social welfare scheme operated by
the local government of China and the employees in
Hong Kong participate in the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme. During the year under review, the
Group contributed approximately RMB4.23 million
(2013: RMB9.58 million) to the said schemes.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES

The Group has made capital expenditure
commitments mainly for property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMBO0.74 million (2013:
RMBO0.98 million) which are contracted but not
provided in the financial statements. The Group had
no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2014 (2013: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2014, restricted bank deposits
with an amount of approximately RMB134.68
million (2013: RMB&0.17 million) represented mainly
deposits placed in banks for guarantees issued for

finance facilities used by the Group.
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Meanwhile, subsidiaries of the Company pledged
its land and buildings with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB15.94 million (2013:
RMB5.39 million) to secure general banking
facilities granted to them. As at 31 December 2014,
the subsidiaries have utilised such secured bank
facilities of RMB2.90 million (2013: RMB1.25 million).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments
and acquisition of material capital assets as at 31
December 2014. However, the Group will continue

to seek new business development opportunities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group mainly operates in China. During the
year ended 31 December 2014, the Group collected
most of its revenue in Renminbi, some of which were
converted into foreign currencies such as United
States dollars, Japanese Yen and other foreign
currencies for the payment of imported parts and
components. As such, the Group had a certain level
of exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. The
Group has no hedging activities as it is considered

that their impact to the Group is insignificant.

Renminbi currently is not a freely convertible
currency. A portion of the Group's Renminbi
revenue or profit must be converted into other
currencies to meet foreign currency obligations
of the Group such as the payment of dividends, if
declared.

13
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (5REF L), aged 68, was
appointed as an executive Director in September
2005 and Chairman of the Board. He is responsible
for the Group's overall strategic planning,
management, business development, and the
formulation of the Group's corporate policies.
Mr. Chu has more than 30 years of experience in
the mechanics, manufacturing and machine tools
industry. Mr. Chu is also a director of Hangzhou
Global Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd,,

both are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung (BR A5 5E4) , aged 69, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005 and chief executive officer. He is also a
member of the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. He is
responsible for general management of the Group.
Mr. Chen has more than 30 years of experience in
the mechanics, manufacturing and machine tools
industry. He is also a director of Hangzhou Good
Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou
Global Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd.,
Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd.
and Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery Technology
Co., Ltd. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 1993.

Mr. Chen Min-Ho (BREBSAT £ %), aged 64, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He is responsible for the overall business
operation of the Group. Mr. Chen has more than 15
years of experience in mechanics, manufacturing
and machine tools industry. He is also a director of
Hangzhou Good Friend Precision Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Rich Friend (Shanghai) Precision Machinery
Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery
Technology Co., Ltd. He joined the Group in 1993.

Mr. Wen Chi-Tang CREEZ £ %), aged 50, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He was the vice general manager of machine
tools division of Hangzhou Good Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd. and then was promoted as the
general manager with effect from 1 January 2011.
He is responsible for the production and operation
of this division. Mr. Wen has more than 29 years
of experience in the machine tools industry. He is
also a director of Hangzhou Good Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Global Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Ever
Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou
Glory Friend Machinery Technology Co., Ltd. He
joined the Group in 2003.
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Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien (EBB88 B 5.4 ) , aged 57, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He was the manager of the parking garage
structures division of Hangzhou Good Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and then was
promoted as the senior manager with effect from 1
January 2011. He is responsible for the production
and operation of this division. Mr. Chiu has more
than 30 years of experience in the mechanics and
manufacturing industry. He joined the Group in
2001.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis (BEfE & 5%t 4) , aged 58,
was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005 and is the chairman of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. He
is the founder and managing director of Hercules
Capital Limited, a corporate finance advisory
firm. He has more than 20 years of experience in
investment banking and professional accounting.
Mr. Koo currently act as an independent non-
executive director of Li Ning Company Limited,
Midland Holdings Limited, Xingda International
Holdings Limited and Richfield Group Holdings
Limited, all of which are companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is a certified

public accountant.

Mr. Koo also served as an independent non-
executive director of Weichai Power Co., Ltd., which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from October 2003 to June 2012.

Mr. Chiang Chun-Te, CIBE % %), aged 54, was
appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005. He is also a member
of the audit committee, the remuneration and the
nomination committee of the Company. He is the
general manager of Istra Corporation and is also
served as the president with effect from 2000. He
was the 17th Representative of the Importers and
Exporters Association of Taipei and then now served

as the director.

He is the director of Long Chen Paper Co., Ltd. He

is also a director of Chinatrust Commercial Bank.

From 2003 to February 2010, Mr. Chiang served as
the director of Premier Capital Management Corp.
and Premier Venture Capital Corp. From 2006 to
June 2009, he served as the independent director
of Yin King Industrial Co., Ltd., which is a listed
company at over-the-counter market on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange Corporation. From 2009 to March
2012, he served as the independent director of Feng
Sheng Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange Corporation). From 2011 to June
2013, he served as the independent director of
Swancor Ind. Co., Ltd. (listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation). From 2001 to December
2014, he served as the president and general
manager of PK Investment Corp.

15
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Mr. Yu Yu-Tang (REE % %), aged 78, was
appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005 and is a member of
the audit committee of the Company. He was
a consultant of the Taiwan Hsin Chu County
Government ( & & ¥ 1T B BUF) and the Provincial

Government.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chiang Chia-Shin (3@ R&ZE £ 4 ) , aged 56, was
appointed as the manufacturing, marketing and
after sales service manager of Hangzhou Global
Friend and is responsible for the manufacturing,
operating, marketing and after sales service of
forklifts trucks in Mainland China. Mr. Chiang
graduated from mechanical engineering
department of Taiwan Fushin Institute Technology
School ( & /&18 #l T ¥ HREIEAR) in 1979. He joined
the Group in 1 July 2000 and has over 29 years
of experience in the design, manufacturing and
production of the motor vehicle parts and forklifts

trucks.

Mr. Wu Li-Chen (R 3 £ %), aged 53, was
appointed as the manager of after sales services
division of machine tools of Hangzhou Good Friend
and then was promoted as the senior manager with
effect from January 2014. He joined the Group in
October 2000 and has over 30 years of experience

in the machine tools industry.

Mr. Yeh Ming-Pin (EBMW L), aged 47, was
appointed as the vice general manager of
Hangzhou Good Friend and is responsible for the
general administrative and management functions.
Mr. Yeh graduated from Tamkang University,
Taiwan ( 88K I K2)in 1994 with a degree
in Accounting. Before he joined the Group in
January 2007, Mr. Yeh worked in TNS CPA firm in
Taiwan from 1994 to 1998 and has over 17 years of
experience in the fields of auditing, accounting and

finance.

Mr. Yip Sai Keung, Esmond (E##g %4 ), aged
49, was appointed as the financial controller of the
Company and is responsible for the finance and
accounting functions of the Group. Mr. Yip holds
a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yip joined the
Group in November 2007 and has over 20 years
of experience in the fields of corporate finance,

auditing and accounting.
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The Board is pleased to submit their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
design and production of CNC machine tools,
design and construction of three-dimensional
car parking garage structures and design and
assembling of forklift trucks.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's turnover and results by
business segments for the year ended 31 December
2014 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December
2014 and the state of affairs of the Group as at
that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 46 to 121.

The Directors declared an interim dividend of
RMBO0.06 (equivalent to approximately HK$0.0754)
per share to those shareholders whose names
appeared on the register of members on 15
October 2014, amounting to approximately
RMB24.19 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$30.40 million) which was paid on 22 October
2014.

The Board proposed, subject to approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 29 May

2015, a final dividend of RMBO0.06 (equivalent to
approximately HK$0.0758 according to the average
mean rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars as
announced by the People’s Bank of China on
27 March 2015) per share for the year ended 31
December 2014, amounting to RMB24.19 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$30.56 million)
payable to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 10 June 2015. The payment date of the
final dividend will be announced later.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from
Tuesday, 26 May 2015 to Friday, 29 May 2015, both
days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares
will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance
and voting at the annual general meeting, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 22 May 2015.

The register of members will also be closed from
Monday, 8 June 2015 to Wednesday, 10 June
2015, both days inclusive, during which no transfer
of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 5 June
2015.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2015 annual general meeting will be held
on Friday, 29 May 2015. Details of the 2015
annual general meeting, notice of annual general
meeting and proxy form are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 27 April 2015 which will
be despatched to shareholders of the Company
together with the 2014 annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant
and equipment during the year are set out in note

15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share
capital for the year ended 31 December 2014 are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2014 are set out in note 32 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and

as at the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Min-Ho

Mr. Wen Chi-Tang

Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis
Mr. Chiang Chun-Te
Mr. Yu Yu-Tang

In accordance with article 87(1) of the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”), Messrs.
Wen Chi-Tang, Chiang Chun-Te and Yu Yu-Tang,
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.



INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”). The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be

independent.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the share option scheme of the Company
adopted on 22 December 2005, at no time during
the year were the rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or Chief
Executive of the Company or their respective
spouses or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or were
the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights or benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any

other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement dated 11 January 2015 with the
Company for a term of three years commencing
from 11 January 2015 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party to the other
or in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective service agreement. Each of the executive
Directors may receive a discretionary bonus, the
amount of which will be determined by reference
to the comments of the remuneration committee of

the Company.

A service agreement has been entered into
between each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company for a fixed term of 2
years commencing from 10 January 2014, and may
be terminated by not less than three months’ notice

in writing served by either party to the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

19



20 GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. Annual Report 2014

Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as those set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements, none of the Directors had
a significant beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any

of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

Reference is made to the relevant disclosures on
pages 94 to 106 and details on the deed of non-
competition on page 105 of the prospectus of
the Company dated 30 December 2005. As at
31 December 2014, none of the Directors and
their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business, which
competes or may compete with the business of the
Group in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 22 December 2005. The purpose
of the Scheme is to motivate eligible persons to
optimise their future contributions to the Group, to
reward them for their past contributions, to attract
and maintain on-going relationships with such
eligible persons who contribute to the performance,
growth or success of the Group. Eligible persons
of the Scheme include the Company's directors,
including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group, suppliers of
goods or services to the Group, customers of the
Group, persons or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group, any minority shareholder in the Company's
subsidiaries, and adviser to business development
of the Group and an associate of any of the

foregoing persons.



The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised

as follows:

(a)

The maximum number of the Company's
shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group must
not exceed 10% of issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of listing of the
Company's shares on the Stock Exchange,
i.e. 11 January 2006 (which were 280,000,000
shares) unless shareholders’ approval has been
obtained, and which must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in

issue from time to time.

As at the date of this report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Scheme
is 28,000,000 shares, which represents 10% of
the issued shares as at the date of listing of the

Company's shares on the Stock Exchange.

The maximum number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to any eligible person (including exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued shares from

time to time.
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The subscription price for the shares under
the Scheme shall be such price as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine at the
time of grant of the option but the subscription
price shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company's shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets on the date of the Board approving the
grant of an option, which must be a business
day ("Offer Date”); (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the
Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the

Company's shares.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during the period commencing
immediately after the business day on which
the option is deemed to be granted and
accepted in accordance with the Scheme
("Commencement Date”) and expiring on such
date of the expiry of the option as the Board
of Directors may in its absolute discretion
determine and which shall not exceed ten
years from the Commencement Date but
subject to the provisions for early termination

thereof as set out in the Scheme.
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(e) Upon acceptance of the option, the  DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN SHARES

grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as
As at 31 December 2014, the interests or short

positions of the Directors or chief executive in the

() The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a shares, underlying shares and debentures of the

Company or any associated corporation (within the

consideration for the grant.

period of ten years commencing on the date
of adoption of the Scheme, i.e. 22 December meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
2005. Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

No option has been granted since the adoption of

the Scheme.
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Companies (“Model Code”), are set out

below:

1(a). Long positions in shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company

Number Approximate

and class percentage of

Name of director Nature of interest of securities shareholding
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung Corporate interest 20,000,000 shares 4.96%

Note: These 20,000,000 shares were beneficially owned by Sunward Gold Global Investments Limited, a company in
which Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung has an interest of approximately 72.22%.



of the Company
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1(b). Aggregate long position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of associated corporations

Name of Number and Approximate
associated Nature of class of percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest securities shareholding
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung REEFRHERRA Beneficial owner 24,161,347 shares 15.35%
(Fair Friend Enterprise
Company Limited)
(“Taiwan FF")
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note 1) Taiwan FF Spouse interest 4,201,925 shares 2.67%
Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung Taiwan FF Beneficial owner 2,994 841 shares 1.90%
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung ROTERGERRA Beneficial owner 21,988 shares 0.22%
(Fairskg (Taiwan) Co., Ltd.)
(Note 3)
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note 2) RN T %[ BR A F Spouse interest 21,988 shares 0.22%
(Fairskq (Taiwan) Co., Ltd.)
(Note 3)
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung hRBEEXRHERDF Beneficial owner 1,000 shares 0.01%

(Yu Thai Xin Ent. Co., Ltd.)
(Note 3)
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Name of Number and Approximate
associated Nature of class of percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest securities shareholding
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note 4)  hZBEEXRMHERAF Spouse interest 1,000 shares 0.01%
(Yu Thai Xin Ent. Co., Ltd.)
(Note 3)
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (Note 5 R =EIRBRMERAA Spouse interest 14,700 shares 0.59%
(Decaview Asia Corporation)
(Note 3)
Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung REBERKHERAR Beneficial owner 2,940 shares 0.12%
(Decaview Asia Corporation)
(Note 3)
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung Fair Fine (Hongzhou) Industrial - Beneficial owner 750 shares 0.03%
Co., Ltd. (Note 3)
Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung Fair Fine (Hongzhou) Industrial - Beneficial owner 750 shares 0.03%

Co., Ltd. (Note 3)



Notes:

1. Ms. Wang Tz-Ti (formerly known as Wang Jin-Zu)
("Ms. Wang"), the spouse of Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung
("Mr. Chu"), held 4,201,925 Shares (representing
2.67% of the issued share capital) of Taiwan FF. Mr.
Chu was deemed to be interested in all the shares
held by Ms. Wang in Taiwan FF under the SFO.

2. Ms. Wang held 21,988 Shares (representing 0.22%
of the issued share capital) of Fairskq (Taiwan) Co.,
Ltd.. Mr. Chu was deemed to be interested in all the
shares held by Ms. Wang in Fairskq (Taiwan) Co., Ltd.
under the SFO.

3. These companies are non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Taiwan FF and are therefore associated
corporations of the Company for the purpose of the
SFO.

4. Ms. Wang held 1,000 Shares (representing 0.01%
of the issued share capital) of Yu Thai Xin Ent. Co.,
Ltd.. Mr. Chu was deemed to be interested in all the
shares held by Ms. Wang in Yu Thai Xin Ent. Co., Ltd.
under the SFO.

5. Ms. Wang held 14,700 Shares (representing 0.59%
of the issued share capital) of Decaview Asia
Corporation. Mr. Chu was deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Ms. Wang in Decaview Asia
Corporation under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO
or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

2. Aggregate short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2014, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any
short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO
or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2014, the interests or short
positions of every person, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO are set out below:
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1. Aggregate long position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of
ordinary shares

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Name of shareholder Nature of interest held issued share capital
Good Friend (H.K)) Beneficial owner 232,000,000 shares 57.54%
Corporation Limited (Note)
("Hong Kong GF")
Taiwan FF Interest of controlled 232,000,000 shares 57.54%
corporation (Note)

Note:  Hong Kong GF is owned as to approximately 99.99% by Taiwan FF. Accordingly, Taiwan FF was deemed to
be interested in 232,000,000 shares of the Company held by Hong Kong GF under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept

under section 336 of the SFO as having interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company as at 31 December 2014.



MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules for securities transaction by
the Directors. Upon enquiry by the Company, all
Directors have confirmed that, for the year ended
31 December 2014, they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee has been set up for
reviewing the Group's emolument policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual

performance and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
as incentive to Directors and eligible employees,
details of the Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and
the top five highest paid individuals of the Group
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the year
are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of any related party transactions
which also constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions not exempted
under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules are
disclosed below. The Group has complied with the
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of such transactions.

Non-exempt continuing connected transaction(s)

1. As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company on 19 May 2011 and circular of the
Company on 24 May 2011, the Company had
on 19 May 2011 entered into: (a) a components
agreement (the "Components Agreement”)
with Taiwan FF, pursuant to which the Company
(and/or permitted designates) (the "GF
Parties”) shall supply CKD components to
Taiwan FF (and/or permitted designates) (the
"FF Parties”) and the FF Parties shall supply
CKD components to the GF Parties for a
period of three years from 23 June 2011; and
(b) a machine tools agreement (the “Machine
Tools Agreement”) with Taiwan FF, pursuant

to which the GF Parties can purchase from the
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FF Parties for a period of three years from 15
June 2011, and has the rights to sell in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative
Region (the “Sales Region”) on an exclusive
basis, and upon the request of the Company,
the FF Parties shall supply to and authorize
the GF Parties to sell, the designated CNC
machine tools in the Sales Region on an

exclusive basis.

As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company on 22 May 2014 and the circular of
the Company on 6 June 2014, the Company
had on 22 May 2014 entered into agreements
with Taiwan FF to renew the Components
Agreement (the "Renewed Components
Agreement”) and the Machine Tools
Agreement (the “Renewed Machine Tools
Agreement”) respectively for a period of three
years from 27 June 2014.

As Taiwan FF is a controlling shareholder of the
Company, Taiwan FF is therefore a connected
person of the Company. The transactions under
the Components Agreement, the Machine
Tools Agreement, the Renewed Components
Agreement and the Renewed Machine
Tools Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions subject to reporting,
announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and annual review requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The resolutions approving the Components
Agreement and the Machine Tools Agreement,
the transactions contemplated thereunder and
the annual caps thereof were duly passed by
the independent shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting held on
15 June 2011. The annual caps for the supply
of CKD components to FF Parties by the GF
Parties and the purchase of CKD components
from the FF Parties by the GF Parties for
the period from 1 January 2014 to 22 June
2014 under the Components Agreement
were RMB1.30 million and RMB235.60 million
respectively. The annual cap for the purchase
of CNC machine tools from the FF Parties by
the GF Parties for the period from 1 January
2014 to 22 June 2014 under the Machine Tools
Agreement was RMB91.70 million.

The resolutions approving the Renewed
Components Agreement and the Renewed
Machine Tools Agreement, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps
thereof were duly passed by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 27 June
2014. The annual caps for the supply of CKD
components to FF Parties by the GF Parties
and the purchase of CKD components from
the FF Parties by the GF Parties for the period
from 27 June 2014 to 31 December 2014

under the Renewed Components Agreement



were RMB2.42 million and RMB58.07 million
respectively. The annual cap for the purchase
of CNC machine tools from the FF Parties by
the GF Parties for the period from 27 June
2014 to 31 December 2014 under the Renewed
Machine Tools Agreement was RMB62.68

million.

As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company on 9 July 2014 and the circular of
the Company on 22 July 2014, FFG Werke
and Sky Thrive had on 9 July 2014 entered
into a guarantee procurement deed (the
"Guarantee Procurement Deed”), pursuant
to which FFG Werke may, during the period
from 6 August 2014 to the date immediately
preceding the expiry of 12 months thereafter,
request Sky Thrive to (at the absolute discretion
of Sky Thrive) procure the issuance of bank
guarantees in respect of sales contracts
between any member of FFG Werke and its
subsidiaries (the "FFG Werke Group”) and the
customer(s) of the FFG Werke Group in favour
of the customers for a maximum amount of
Euro 10,600,000.
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As FFG Werke is an associate of Taiwan FF,
a controlling shareholder and connected
person of the Company, FFG Werke is
therefore a connected person of the Company.
The transactions under the Guarantee
Procurement Deed constituted continuing
connected transactions subject to reporting,
announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and annual review requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The resolutions approving the Guarantee
Procurement Deed and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were duly passed by
the independent shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting held 6
August 2014.

The independent non-executive directors of
the Company have reviewed the Components
Agreement, the Machine Tools Agreement, the
Renewed Components Agreement, the Renewed
Machine Tools Agreement and the Guarantee
Procurement Deed and the transactions thereunder
conducted during the year and confirmed that they
have been entered into:—

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of

the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms;
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(iii) in accordance with the respective terms
of the the Components Agreement, the
Machine Tools Agreement, the Renewed
Components Agreement, the Renewed
Machine Tools Agreement and the Guarantee
Procurement Deed and on terms which were
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole; and

(iv) the aggregate transactions amount for the year

was within the relevant annual caps.

The auditor of the Company has issued a report
of its factual findings to the board of directors of
the Company confirming the matters as required in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the
Company's listed shares by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2014.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers accounted for
approximately 13.97% of the Group's total turnover
for the year and the largest customer accounted
for approximately 6.41% of the Group's total
turnover. The five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 28.68% of the Group's total
purchases for the year and the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 15.16% of the Group's
total purchases.

None of the Directors or their associates has
interests in any of the aforesaid customers and

suppliers.

Save that Hong Kong GF and Taiwan FF were
among the aforesaid five largest suppliers of the
Group, to the knowledge of the Directors, none
of the shareholders owning more than 5% of the
Company's shares had any interest in the aforesaid
customers and suppliers of the Group during the

year.



SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As far as the information publicly available to the
Company is concerned and to the best knowledge
of the Directors of the Company, at least 25% of
the Company'’s issued share capital were held by

members of the public as at the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW
OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company established an audit committee (the
"Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control
system of the Group. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis (as Chairman),
Mr. Chiang Chun-Te and Mr. Yu Yu-Tang. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 32 to 43.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

on page 122.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2014 have been audited by the auditor
of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

appointment at the 2015 annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Good Friend International Holdings Inc.
Chu Chih-Yaung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2015
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The Company is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance standard through a solid
and efficient framework to promote the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to
enhance shareholders’ value.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted its corporate
governance practices which are reproduced from
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and has reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.
During the year under review, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code except for the following deviation.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates
that the chairman of the board should attend the
annual general meeting and the chairman of the
independent board committee (if any) should also
be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve connected transaction or
any other transaction that requires independent
shareholders’ approval. The chairman of the Board
was unable to attend the annual general meeting
held on 13 June 2014 due to his business trip and
Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien, an executive Director, took the
chair of the annual general meeting pursuant to the
Articles of Association of the Company. The three
independent non-executive directors constituting

the independent board committee were unable
to attend the extraordinary general meeting held
on 6 August 2014 to approve disclosable and
continuing connected transaction and provision
of financial assistance due to their other business

commitments.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules for securities transactions by
the Directors. Upon enquiry by the Company, all
Directors have confirmed that, for the year ended
31 December 2014, they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code

regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group's
budget, significant policies and transactions,
financial results, businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The management was delegated
the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various board committees
referred to below. Further details of these

committees are set out in this report.



The Board currently consists of eight Directors
including five executive Directors and three

independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung (Chairman)

Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHEN Min-Ho

Mr. WEN Chi-Tang

Mr. CHIU Rung-Hsien

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te
Mr. YU Yu-Tang

Such balanced board composition is formed
to ensure a strong independent objectivity
exists across the Board and has adhered to the
recommended practice under the CG Code for the
Board to have at least one-third of its members
comprising independent non-executive Directors.
The biographical information of the Directors is set
out on pages 14 to 16 under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management”.
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Directors have given sufficient time and attention
to the Group's affairs. The directors have disclosed
to the Company annually the number and the
nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments.
The Board believes that the balance between
executive directors and independent non-executive
directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interests of the

Shareholders and the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions and roles of Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held and performed separately by two individuals
to ensure their respective independence,
accountability and responsibility. The Chairman,
being Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung, is in-charge of the
leadership of the Board and strategies planning of
the Group. The Chief Executive Officer, being Mr.
CHEN Hsiang-Jung, is responsible for the day-to-

day management of the Group's business.

Independent non-executive Directors

The three Directors serving the non-executive
role are all independent and are appointed as the

independent non-executive Directors.
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The three independent non-executive Directors
are persons of high caliber, with academic
and professional qualifications in the fields of
accounting and finance. With their experience
gained from various sectors, they provide strong
support towards the effective discharge of the
duties and responsibilities of the Board. Amongst
them, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis has the appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each
independent non-executive Director has provided
an annual confirmation of his independence to the
Company, and the Company considers each of them
to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

The three independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term of two years and are
subject to retirement by rotation, at least once every

three years, in accordance with the Articles.

Role of the Board

The Board decides on corporate strategies,
approves overall business plans and evaluates the
Group's financial performance and management.
Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group's management include the implementation
of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring
of operating budgets, the implementation of
internal controls procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and

other rules and regulations.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is also responsible for performing the

corporate governance duties as set out below:—

1. develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and

make recommendations;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and

senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company's policies
and practices on compliance with legal and

regulatory requirements;

4.  develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any)

applicable to employees and directors; and

5. review the Company's compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report under Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.



Directors’ training

Based on the training records provided to the
Company by the directors and the Company’s
record, the directors have participated in the
following training during 2014:

Directors Type of trainings

Executive Directors

CHU Chih-Yaung A B
CHEN Hsiang-Jung A, B
CHEN Min-Ho A B
WEN Chi-Tang A, B
CHIU Rung-Hsien A, B

Independent Non-Executive Directors

KOO Fook Sun, Louis A B
CHIANG Chun-Te A B
YU Yu-Tang A, B

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or

forums

B: reading information, newspapers, journals and
materials relating to responsibilities of directors,
economy, financial, investments and business of the

Company
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Frequency of Board Meetings and Attendance

Board meetings are held at least four times a year
and the Board meets as and when required. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the
Board convened a total of four regular meetings
and the attendances of the Directors at these Board

meetings are as follows:

Directors Number of attendance
Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung 2/4
Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung 2/4
Mr. CHEN Min-Ho 2/4
Mr. WEN Chi-Tang 2/4
Mr. CHIU Rung-Hsien 3/4
Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 3/4
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 4/4
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 3/4

The Directors received details of agenda items for
decision and minutes of Board meetings in advance

of each Board meeting.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every
Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials and has unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external

professional advice if so required.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in

respect of relevant actions against its Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee
(the "Audit Committee”) with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. KOO Fook Sun,
Louis (as chairman), Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te and Mr.
YU Yu-Tang.

The role of the Audit Committee is to monitor the
establishment and maintenance of an adequate
system of internal control and compliance with such

system.

The chief responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor and approving the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of
such auditor; reviewing the interim and annual
reports and accounts of the Group; and supervising
the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Group. The
Audit Committee had during the year performed
such functions and reviewed the unaudited
financial statements of the Company for the six
months ended 30 June 2014. The audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2014 has also been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the
Board that PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified
Public Accountants, be nominated for re-
appointment as auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

During the year 2014, the Audit Committee met
three times, during which the management of
the Company and the external auditor were
also in attendance, if appropriate. Details of the
attendance by members of the Audit Committee of
such meetings are as follows:

Name of members Number of attendance

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 3/3
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 3/3
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 3/3

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the
Board will take into account the qualification, ability,
working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates, especially their experience
in the mechanics industry and/or other professional

area.



The Company established a nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code
and consists of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis (as
chairman) and Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung.

The functions of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of
the Board, assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors.

During the year and prior to the date of this
report, there were no changes of the Directors.
The Nomination Committee considered the
current Board size as adequate for the Company's
present operations. In addition, the Committee has
reviewed and satisfied with the independence of all

independent non-executive Directors.

In accordance with the Articles, at least one-
third of the Directors will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance
with the Articles 87(1) of the Articles, Mr. Wen Chi-
Tang, Mr. Chiang Chun-Te and Mr. Yu Yu-Tang will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.
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Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

The Nomination Committee has convened one
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2014
and details of the attendance of its meeting are as
follows:

Name of members Number of attendance

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis VAl
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 1/1
Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung 11

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has formulated and adopted the
board diversity policy in August 2013 aiming at
setting out the approach on diversity of the Board of
the Company.

The Board recognizes the importance of having a
diverse Board in enhancing the board effectiveness
and corporate governance. A diverse Board will
include and make good use of differences in
the skills, industry knowledge and experience,
education, background and other qualities of
directors of the Company (the "Directors”) and
does not discriminate on the ground of race, age,
gender or religious belief. These differences will
be taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board and when possible should

be balanced appropriately.
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The Nomination Committee of the Company has
responsibility for identifying and nominating for
approval by the Board, candidates for appointment
to the Board. It takes responsibility in assessing the
appropriate mix of experience, expertise, skills and
diversity required on the Board and assessing the
extent to which the required skills are represented
on the Board and overseeing the Board succession.
It is also responsible for reviewing and reporting to

the Board in relation to Board diversity.

Board appointments will be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates to
join the Board will be, in part, dependent on the
pool of candidates with the necessary knowledge,
experience, skills, educational background and
other qualities. The final decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the chosen candidate

will bring to the Board.

At present, the Nomination Committee has not
set any measurable objectives to implement the
board diversity policy. However, it will consider and
review the board diversity policy and setting of any

measurable objects from time to time.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a remuneration
committee (the “"Remuneration Committee”) with
written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code and consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. KOO Fook Sun,
Louis (as chairman) and Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te, and
one executive Director, namely Mr. CHEN Hsiang-

Jung.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are
establishing and reviewing the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior

management.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

The Remuneration Committee has convened one
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2014
to review the existing remuneration packages of
each of the Directors and senior management of
the Company and details of the attendance of its
meeting are as follows:

Name of members Number of attendance

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis VAl
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 11
Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung 171



Emolument policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the
Group is determined on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
Each of the executive Directors is entitled to the
respective basic salary which is reviewed annually.
In addition, each of the executive Directors may
receive a discretionary bonus as the Board may
suggest, the amount of which shall not exceed 2%
of the audited consolidated net profits of the Group
for the relevant financial year. Such amount has
to be approved by the Remuneration Committee.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in

note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
on 22 December 2005. The purpose of the share
option scheme is to enable the Board, at its
discretion, to grant options to selected eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimize their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the
Group. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”

of the “Report of the Directors”.

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. Annual Report 2014 39

Corporate Governance Report

Remuneration of Senior Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31
December 2014 is set out below:

Remuneration bands Number of persons

(HK$)

Less than $1,000,000 3
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1

Further particulars regarding Director’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees
as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix
16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8(a) and

8(b) to the financial statements, respectively.

OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES

During the year, an independent board committee
comprising all the three independent non-executive
directors was formed for continuing connected
transactions involving (i) renewal of framework
agreement for purchase and supply of components;
and (i) renewal of exclusive framework agreement
for the purchase of designated CNC machine tools.
Details of these continuing connected transactions
etc were set out in a circular of the Company dated
6 June 2014.
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Another independent board committee comprising
all the three independent non-executive directors
was formed for the disclosable and continuing
connected transaction involving provision of
financial assistance. Details of this disclosable and
continuing connected transaction were set out in a
circular of the Company dated 22 July 2014.

Two committee meetings were held with the

presence of the committee members.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo
Tai On, a representative from an external secretarial
services provider, as the company secretary of the
Company. The primary contact person with the
company secretary of the Company is Mr. Esmond
Yip, the Financial Controller of the Company. Mr.
Lo has duly complied with the relevant training

requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there was no change

in the Company's constitutional documents.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company’'s auditor,

PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out below:

Services rendered

to the Group Fee paid/payable

HK$'000
Audit services 1,790
Non-audit services 48

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Board is responsible for the Group's system
of internal control and has the responsibility for
reviewing its effectiveness including financial,
operational and compliance controls, etc.. The
Board is committed to implementing an effective
and sound internal control system to safeguard
the interests of the shareholders and the Group's
assets. During the year, the Company has engaged
a professional firm to assist the board in conducting
a review of certain key parts of the internal control
system of the Group. The Board also reviewed
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget. The report and findings
of the review, had been submitted to the Board
and follow up plan had been adopted. The review
did not find any material deficiencies in the internal

control system of the Group.



DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
prepare the Company's accounts for each financial
period to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flows for that period. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2014,
the Board has selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable
and prepared the accounts on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all
reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the
assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud

and other irregularities.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATION

The Board recognises the importance of good
communication with the shareholders of the
Company (the "“Shareholders”). Information in
relation to the Group is disseminated to the
Shareholders in a timely manner through a number
of formal channels, which include interim and
annual reports, announcements and circulars of the

Company.

The general meetings of the Company are valuable
forum for the Board to communicate directly with
the Shareholders. The Shareholders are encouraged

to attend the general meetings of the Company.
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An annual general meeting of the Company
was held on 13 June 2014 (the “2014 AGM"). A
notice convening the 2014 AGM contained in the
circular dated 30 April 2014 was dispatched to
the Shareholders together with the 2013 Annual
Report. Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien, the Executive Director
and Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, the Chairman of the
committees of the Board, attended the 2014 AGM
to answer the questions from the Shareholders.
Other directors were unable to attend the 2014
AGM due to their other business commitment.

Besides, extraordinary general meetings of the
Company were held on 27 June 2014 and 6 August
2014, respectively (the "EGMs”) to approve,
respectively, (i) continuing connected transactions;
and (ii) disclosable and continuing connected
transactions of the Company etc. Mr. Chen Hsiang-
Jung attended and act as chairman of the EGMs.
Other Directors (except Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis
attended the EGM held on 27 June 2014) were
unable to attend the EGMs due to their other

business commitment.

The Chairman of the 2014 AGM and EGMs
explained detailed procedures for conduction
a poll. All the resolutions proposed at the 2014
AGM and EGMs were passed separately by the
Shareholders by way of poll. The results of the
poll were published on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company after the meetings.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company will be held on 29 May 2015 (the “2015
AGM"). A notice convening 2015 AGM will be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
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and the Company and dispatched together with
the 2014 Annual Report to the Shareholders as
soon as practicable in accordance wit the Articles of
Association and the CG Code.

The Company is committed to enhancing
communications and relationships with its investors.
Designated senior management maintains an
open dialogue with institutional investors and
analysts to keep them abreast of the Company's

developments.

The Company also maintains a website at www.
goodfriend.hk, where updates on the Company’s
business developments and operations, financial

information and news can always be found.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through the
Company Secretary whose contact details are as

follows:—

Room 2003, 20/F., Kai Tak Commercial Building,
317-319 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3586 2620

Email: investor@goodfriend.hk

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide
an opportunity for communication between the
shareholders and the Board. An annual general
meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
at such place as may be determined by the Board.

Each general meeting, other than an annual general

meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general
meeting ("EGM"). Set out below is procedures by
which shareholders may (a) convene an EGM; (b) put
forward enquiries to the Board; and (c) put forward
proposals at general meetings. The procedures are
subject to the Company'’s articles of association and

applicable legislation and regulations.

Procedures for shareholders to convene EGM:

Any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of
the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such

requisition.

The written requisition must state the business
to be transacted at the meeting, signed by the
requisitionist(s) and deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong or the
Company's registered office for the attention of
the Board or the Secretary of the Company, and
may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionists. The
requisition will be verified with the Company's
branch share registrars in Hong Kong and upon
their confirmation that the requisition is proper and
in order, the Secretary of the Company will ask the
Board to convene an EGM by serving sufficient

notice in accordance with the requirements under



the articles of association of the Company to all
the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if
the requisition has been verified as invalid, the
requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as

requested.

If within twenty-one (21) days from the date of that
deposit of the requisition the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s), may
convene a meeting in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered
shareholders for consideration of the proposal
raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM
varied according to the nature of the proposal, as

follows:

- Not less than 14 clear days’ and not less than
10 clear business days’ notice in writing if the
proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of

the Company; and

- Not less than 21 clear days’ and not less than
20 clear business days’ notice in writing if the
proposal constitutes a special resolution of the

Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at

general meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of
the Company, a shareholder should lodge a written
request, duly signed by the shareholder concerned,
setting out the proposals at the Company'’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board and the Secretary of the Company.
The request will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrars in Hong Kong and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the Secretary of the Company will pass
the request to the Board. Whether a proposal will
be put to a general meeting will be decided by
the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal
put forward by a shareholder is (a) pursuant to a
requisition by a shareholder to convene an EGM
referred to above or (b) forms part of ordinary
business to be considered at an annual general
meeting as described in article 61(1) of the articles

of association of the Company.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to
propose a person for election as director is posted

on the Company's website at www.goodfriend.hk

AUDITOR’'S STATEMENT

The auditor of the Company acknowledge their
responsibilities in the auditor’s report on the
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2014.

Hong Kong, 27 March 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Good Friend International Holdings Inc. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 121, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material

misstatement.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at 31 December 2014, and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2015
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Year ended 31 December

2014 2013
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Revenue 5 1,300,119 1,350,271
Cost of revenue 7 (955,225) (1,040,500)
Gross profit 344,894 309,771
Other income 6 33,520 28,738
Distribution and selling expenses 7 (129,480) (147,533)
Administrative expenses 7 (99,528) (86,025)
Other operating expenses 7 (4,144) (2,561)
Operating profit 145,262 102,390
Finance costs 9 (9,174) (7,964)
Share of loss of joint ventures 19 (2,458) (3,975)
Share of loss of an associate 20 (8,559) (26,321)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary and an associate - (9,742)
Profit before income tax 125,071 54,388
Income tax expense 10 (23,758) (17,520)
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 101,313 36,868
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Share of other comprehensive income of an associate 162 3,665
Currency translation differences 29 (3,428) 10,896
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company 98,047 51,429
Earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of
the Company (expressed in RMB per share)
Basic and diluted earnings per share 12 0.25 0.09

The notes on pages 53 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Dividends 13 48,384 40,320
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 December

2014 2013
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Land use rights 14 37,538 38,481
Property, plant and equipment 15 227,448 256,100
Investment properties 16 9,419 249
Intangible assets 17 1,696 1,458
Investments in joint ventures 19 18,357 17,576
Investment in an associate 20 1,207 9,604
Available-for-sale financial asset 23 571 571
Deferred income tax assets 33 6,144 4,520
Deposits for purchases of plant and equipment - 1,560
302,380 330,119
Current assets
Inventories 24 257,257 279,016
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 22 513,983 622,553
Amount due from an investee 23 12,525 13,988
Amounts due from customers for contract work 25 32,494 24,651
Amount due from ultimate holding company 37 532 1,912
Amounts due from and prepayment to fellow subsidiaries and
an associate of ultimate holding company 37 296 1,786
Amount due from joint ventures 37 891 1,498
Amount due from subsidiaries of an associate 37 12,274 12,495
Restricted bank deposits 26 134,681 60,167
Term deposits with initial term of over three months 27 98,000 24,000
Cash and cash equivalents 27 262,751 211,829
1,325,684 1,253,895
Total assets 1,628,064 1,584,014
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 28 4,022 4,022
Share premium 29 82,281 82,281
Capital reserves 29 77,338 77,338
Other reserves 29 53,066 56,332
Retained earnings 29 509,988 453,027

Total equity 726,695 673,000
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As at 31 December

2014 2013
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities 33 16,118 18,775
Current liabilities
Creditors, other payables and accrued charges 30 410,211 449,133
Amounts due to customers for contract work 25 42,800 49,959
Amount due to ultimate holding company 37 1,716 1,029
Amount due to immediate holding company 37 3,447 2,156
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary and an associate of
ultimate holding company 37 784 321
Amount due to subsidiaries of an associate 37 1,128 293
Amount due to joint ventures 37 76 131
Current income tax liabilities 16,681 14,691
Warranty provision 31 6,329 6,774
Borrowings 32 402,079 367,752
885,251 892,239
Total liabilities 901,369 911,014
Total equity and liabilities 1,628,064 1,584,014
Net current assets 440,433 361,656
Total assets less current liabilities 742,813 691,775

The notes on pages 53 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 46 to 121 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2015 and were
signed on its behalf.

Chu Chih-Yaung Chen Hsiang-Jung
Director Director
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Company Balance Sheet

As at 31 December

2014 2013
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 8 21
Investments in subsidiaries 18 52,837 52,837
Investments in joint ventures 19 27,666 24,427
80,511 77,285
Current assets
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 22 14,882 18,407
Amounts due from subsidiaries 18 331,264 331,616
Restricted bank deposits 26 2,370 2,052
Cash and cash equivalents 27 1,784 1,618
350,300 353,693
Total assets 430,811 430,978
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Share capital 28 4,022 4,022
Share premium 29 83,096 83,096
Other reserves 29 7,973 7,632
Retained earnings 29 46,080 46,560

Total equity 141,171 141,310
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As at 31 December

2014 2013
Note RMB'000 RMB'000

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 30 13,934 20,454
Borrowings 32 275,706 269,214
289,640 289,668
Total liabilities 289,640 289,668
Total equity and liabilities 430,811 430,978
Net current assets 60,660 64,025
Total assets less current liabilities 141,171 141,310

The notes on pages 53 to 121 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 46 to 121 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2015 and were
signed on its behalf.

Chu Chih-Yaung Chen Hsiang-Jung
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Share Capital Other Retained Total

capital premium reserves reserves earnings equity

Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Balance at 1 January 2013 4,022 122,601 77,338 41,771 416,159 661,891

Comprehensive income:

Profit for the year - - - - 36,868 36,868
Other comprehensive income:

Share of other comprehensive

income of an associate - - - 3,665 - 3,665
Currency translation difference - - - 10,896 - 10,896
Total comprehensive income - - - 14,561 36,868 51,429
Dividends paid 13 - (40,320) - - - (40,320)
Balance at 31 December 2013 4,022 82,281 77,338 56,332 453,027 673,000

Comprehensive income:
Profit for the year - - - - 101,313 101,313
Other comprehensive income:

Share of other comprehensive

income of an associate - - - 162 - 162
Currency translation difference - - - (3,428) - (3,428)
Total comprehensive income - - - (3,266) 101,313 98,047
Dividends paid 13 - - - - (44,352) (44,352)
Balance at 31 December 2014 4,022 82,281 77,338 53,066 509,988 726,695

The notes on pages 53 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



52 GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. Annual Report 2014

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December

2014 2013
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 34 242,521 239,799
Income tax and withholding tax paid (26,049) (10,443)
Net cash generated from operating activities 216,472 229,356

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in a joint venture (3,239) (3,458)
Investment in an available-for-sale financial asset - (571)
Increase in loans to investee - (13,988)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ("PPE") (4,221) (4,802)
Proceeds from sale of PPE 34 567 5,667
Purchases of intangible assets (939) (727)
Interest received 9,995 5,363
Increase in restricted bank deposits (74,514) (37,203)
Increase in term deposits with initial term of over three months (74,000) (24,000)
Net cash paid from disposal of a subsidiary - (2,277)
Net cash used in investing activities (146,351) (75,996)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 192,455 791,390
Repayments of borrowings (158,128) (796,467)
Dividends paid to equity holders (44,352) (40,320)
Interests paid (9,174) (7,964)
Net cash used in financing activities (19,199) (53,355)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 50,922 100,005
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 27 211,829 111,824
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 27 262,751 211,829

The notes on pages 53 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Good Friend International Holdings Inc. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are engaged in
the design and production of computer numerical control machine tools, three dimensional car parking garage

structures and forklift trucks.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman Ky-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Stock Exchange”) since 11 January 2006. In addition, 67,200,000 units of Taiwan depositary receipts (“TDRs”),
representing 67,200,000 newly issued shares of the Company, were issued and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (“Taiwan Stock Exchange”) on 18 March 2010.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2015.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out

below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under

the historical cost convention.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable requirements of the

predecessor Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) for this financial year and the comparative period.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where

assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a)  New and amended standards adopted by the Group:

The following standards have been adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2014:
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)

(a)

®)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group: (Continued)

Amendment to HKAS 32, “Financial instruments: Presentation” on offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities. This amendment clarifies that the right of set-off must not be contingent on
a future event. It must also be legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of
business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The amendment also considers
settlement mechanisms. The amendment did not have a significant effect on the Group's financial

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 36, “Impairment of assets”, on the recoverable amount disclosures for non-
financial assets. This amendment removed certain disclosures of the recoverable amount of cash-
generating units ("CGUs") which had been included in HKAS 36 by the issue of HKFRS 13.

Other standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for the financial year

beginning on 1 January 2014 are not material to the Group.

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation as from the Company'’s first financial year commencing on
or after 3 March 2014 in accordance with section 358 of that Ordinance. The Group is in the process
of making an assessment of expected impact of the changes in the Companies Ordinance on the
consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application of Part 9 of the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). So far it has concluded that the impact is unlikely to be significant
and only the presentation and the disclosure of information in the consolidated financial statements
will be affected.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for
annual periods beginning after 1 January 2014, and have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the

consolidated financial statements of the Group, except the following set out below:
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted: (Continued)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of
financial assets and financial liabilities. The complete version of HKFRS 9 was issued in July 2014.
It replaces the guidance in HKAS 39 that relates to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. HKFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three
primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends
on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss
with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive
income not recycling. There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred

loss impairment model used in HKAS 39.

For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the
recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss. HKFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by
replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic relationship between
the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the “hedged ratio” to be the same as the one

management actually use for risk management purposes.

Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared under
HKAS 39. The standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
Early adoption is permitted. The Group is yet to assess HKAS 9's full impact.

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers” deals with revenue recognition and establishes
principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.
Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability
to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The standard replaces HKAS
18 “Revenue” and HKAS 11 “Construction contracts” and related interpretations. The standard
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and earlier application is

permitted. The Group is assessing the impact of HKAS 15.

There are no other HKFRS or HK (IFRIC) interpretations that are not yet effective that would be
expected to have a material impact on the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from

the date that control ceases.

(a) Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised

amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any

gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or
as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is

not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the

difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by

subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's accounting policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)
(6) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to

non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associated company, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to the profit or loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the

basis of dividend and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets

including goodwill.

2.3 Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in an associate are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of
the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group's investment in an associate includes

goodwill identified on acquisition.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Associate (Continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to ‘share of profit/(loss) of an associate’ in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate
are recognised in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in an
associate. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associate have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in an associate are recognised in the income statement.

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements as of 1 January 2012. Under HKFRS 11 investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual
rights and obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and
determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. When the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests
in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors that makes

strategic decisions.

2.6 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional and the

: .
Group's presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow

hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income statement within ‘finance income or cost’. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income statement within ‘other (losses)/gains — net'.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are

translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation differences are

recognised in the other comprehensive income.

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the equity holders

of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the Group's ownership interest in associate or joint ventures that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control) the proportionate share of the

accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Cost mainly
represented consideration paid for the rights to use the land from the date the respective rights were granted.

Amortisation of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of the rights, i.e. 50 years.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

— Buildings 20 years
— Machinery and equipments 10 years
— Office and computer equipment 3-5 years

— Motor vehicles 4 years
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each

reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 2.11).

Construction in progress represents property in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying

amount and are recognised within ‘Other (losses)/gains — net’ in the income statement.

2.9 Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by

the Group, is classified as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lines of 20 years.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in

the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are

recognised in the statement of consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Intangible assets

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licences acquired
in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks and licences have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks and licences over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example, goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use — are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12 Financial assets
2.12.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables and available for sale. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market.

They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group's receivables comprise
‘Debtors, deposits and prepayments’, ‘Amount due from ultimate holding company’, "Amounts
due from and prepayment to a fellow subsidiary and associates of ultimate holding company’,
‘Amount due from an associate and its subsidiaries’, "Amount due from joint ventures’, ‘restricted
bank deposits’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet (notes 2.16 and 2.17).

(b)  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category
or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the
investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)
2.12.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Unlisted equity financial assets
are stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the fair value cannot be measured reliably. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.14 Impairment of financial assets
(a) Asset carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a

financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated

future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. If a loan or held- to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate
for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As
a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using

an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the
debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the

consolidated income statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(b) Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the group uses the criteria
referred to in (a) above. In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in profit
or loss. Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the consolidated income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a
debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed

through the consolidated income statement.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable

variable selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as

non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at

call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
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2.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

2.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current

liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready

for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement,

except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In

this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes

provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when

the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit

will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments
in subsidiaries, associate and joint arrangements, except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control
the reversal of the temporary difference for associate. Only where there is an agreement in place that

gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments
in subsidiaries, associate and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the

temporary difference can be utilised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different

taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.23 Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leaves are recognised when they accrue to employees. Provisions are
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the

balance sheet date.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution retirement schemes under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes (“MPF”) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the assets of which are generally held
in separate trustee administered funds. The pension plans are generally funded by payments from
employees and by the Group. The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement schemes

are expensed as incurred.

The Group also contributes to employee retirement schemes established by municipal governments in
Mainland China. The municipal governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of
all existing and future retired employees of the Group. Contributions to these schemes are charged to the

statement of consolidated comprehensive income as incurred.

(c) Bonus plans

Provisions for bonus plan due wholly within twelve months after the balance sheet date are recognised

where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2.24 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values where there is reasonable assurance that grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period necessary to match

them with the cost that they are intended to compensate.
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2.25 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has

been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood

of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest

expense.

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and

discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group's activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into

consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(@) Sales of machine tools and forklift trucks are recognised when goods are delivered and title has been

passed.

(b) Revenue from construction of parking garage structures for contract customers is recognised based on
the percentage of completion of the contract, provided that the revenue, the costs incurred and the
estimated costs to completion can be measured reliably. The percentage of completion is estimated by
reference to the costs incurred to date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under the contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by the management.

(c) Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount
as interest income. Interest income on impaired receivables is recognised using the original effective

interest rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued))

(d) Repair income is recognised when service are rendered.

(e) Rental income from investment property is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis

over the term of the lease.

2.27 Parking garage structures contracts

Where the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet
date, measured by the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date as compared to the
estimated total contract costs. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the

extent that they have been agreed with the customers.

Where the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract

costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Where it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is

recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as an amount due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown
as an amount due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated balance sheet, as a liability, as amounts due to customers for contract work.
Amount billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated balance

sheet under amounts due from customers for contract work.

2.28 Operating Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the

lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.29 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's

shareholders or directors where appropriate.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group and the Company are mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars and Euro against RMB. This foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions or recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency of RMB. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular

reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures and it has not hedged its foreign exchange risk.

Group

At 31 December 2014, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2013: 5%) against the Hong Kong
dollars with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB3,382,000 higher/lower (2013: approximately RMB4,403,000 higher/lower).

At 31 December 2014, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2013: 5%) against the United
States dollars with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB 13,444,000 higher/lower (2013: approximately RMB11,070,000 higher/lower).

At 31 December 2014, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2013: 5%) against Euro with all other
variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately RMB1,200,000 higher/lower
(2013: approximately RMB%66,000 higher/lower).

Company

At 31 December 2014, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2013: 5%) against the Hong Kong
dollars with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB2,521,000 higher/lower (2013: approximately RMB3,415,000 higher/lower).

At 31 December 2014, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2013: 5%) against the United
States dollars with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately
RMB?,200,000 higher/lower (2013: approximately RMB8,157,000 higher/lower).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
Company (Continued)

At 31 December 2014, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2013: 5%) against Euro with all other
variables held constant, profit for the year would have been approximately RMB583,000 higher/lower
(2013: approximately RMB275,000 higher/lower).

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of the

foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates as the Group has no significant interest bearing assets and liabilities except for the deposits in banks

and certain bank loans, details of which have been disclosed in Note 27 and Note 32, respectively.

Group

At 31 December 2014, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been RMB73,000 (2013: RMB67,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

Company

At 31 December 2014, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been RMB28,000 (2013: RMB27,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk arises from debtors and deposits,
amounts due from customers for contract work, amounts due from an investee, ultimate holding
company, a fellow subsidiaries and an associate of ultimate holding company, a joint venture, an associate
and its subsidiaries as well as restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents as stated in the

consolidated balance sheet.

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk arises from deposits, amounts
due from subsidiaries as well as restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents as recorded in the

Company standalone balance sheet.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team of personnel
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and implementation of monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount due from each individual trade customer at each balance sheet date in

order to provide for impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered insignificant because the counterparties
are banks with credit ratings not lower than Baa2 (2013: Baa2) assigned by international credit-rating

agencies.
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements:

Group Maximum exposure

2014 2013
RMB’'000 RMB'000

Credit risk exposure relating to off — balance sheet items:
- Financial guarantees (note 23) 102,703 23,673
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

In order to manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains cash and cash equivalents
and unused credit facilities at a level which is deemed to be adequate by management to finance the
Group's operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group had unutilised
credit facilities of RMB692,723,000 (2013: RMB658,958,000) granted by several financial institutions as
at 31 December 2014. Management monitor the utilisation of credit facilities and draw-down of bank
borrowings and ensure compliance with the relevant loan covenants. The table below analyses the
Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period between

balance sheet date to the contractual maturity dates.

Group
Between
Less than 3 months Between Between Over
3 months and 1year  1and2years 2 and 5 years 5 years
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 31 December 2014
Creditors, other payables and
accrued charges 410,211 - - - -
Borrowings 367,718 37,002 - -

Amount due to ultimate

holding company 1,716 - - - -
Amount due to immediate

holding company 3447 - - - -
Amount due to a fellow

subsidiary and an associate

of ultimate holding company 784 - - - -
Amount due to subsidiaries of

an associate 1,128 - - - -
Amount due to a joint venture 76 - - - -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued))

Group
Between
Less than 3 months Between Between Over
3 months and 1year 1and2years 2 and 5 years 5 years
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 31 December 2013
Creditors, other payables and
accrued charges 449133 - - - -
Borrowings 348,857 23,488 - - -
Amount due to ultimate
holding company 1,029 - - - -
Amount due to immediate
holding company 2,156 - - - -
Amount due to a fellow
subsidiary 321 - - - -
Amount due to subsidiaries of
an associate 293 - - - -
Amount due to joint ventures 131 - - - -
Company
Between
Less than 3 months Between Between Over
3 months and 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years 5 years
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
At 31 December 2014
Other payables and
accrued charges 13,934 - - - -
Borrowings 258,838 18,358 - - -
At 31 December 2013
Other payables and
accrued charges 20,454 - - - -
Borrowings 254,533 18,570 - - -
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3.2 Capital risk management

The Group manage its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes bank borrowings net of cash and
cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising paid-in capital, share

premium and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. As a part of this review, the directors
of the Company assess the annual budget prepared by various departments, which takes into account future
expansion plans and sources of funding. The directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risk
associated with each class of capital. The directors of the Company also balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or redemption of

existing debts.

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total borrowings (note 32) 402,079 367,752
Less: cash and cash equivalents (note 27) (262,751) (211,829)
Net debt 139,328 155,923
Total equity 726,695 673,000
Total capital 866,023 828,923
Gearing ratio 16% 19%

The decrease in the gearing ratio during 2014 was mainly due to the increase in profit.

3.3 Fair value estimation

As at 31 December 2014, the Group and the Company had no financial instrument which has been stated at

fair value.

The carrying amounts less impairment provision of receivables and payables are a reasonable approximation

of their fair values due to their short-term maturities.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant

risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Revenue from construction of parking garage structures

When the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract can be estimated reliably,
the Group recognises the related revenue based on the percentage-of-completion method, which is
measured by the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total
contract costs. Estimated total costs to be incurred under each contract are regularly reviewed during the
whole term of the contract. Recognition of this revenue is made based on performance measurement.
It involves an estimation process and is subject to risks and uncertainties inherent in projecting future
events. A number of internal and external factors can affect our estimates, including different cost
components applied to different parking garage structures being constructed; and efficiency of the
Group's employees undertaking the construction. Recognised revenue and profit are subject to revisions
as the respective contract progress to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the revision becomes known.

Accordingly, any changes in the Group's estimates would impact the Group's future operating results.

Estimated impairment of trade debtors

The Group makes provision for impairment of trade debtors based on an estimate of the recoverability
of the debtors. Provisions are applied to debtors where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of impairment of debtors requires the use
of estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
carrying amount of the debtors and provision for impairment losses in the year in which such estimate has

been changed.

As at 31 December 2014, provision for impairment of trade debtors amounting to approximately
RMB36,544,000 (2013: RMB21,795,000) had been recognised.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Estimated useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than

previously estimated, and will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets

Machinery and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the higher of fair value of the machinery and equipment less costs to sell
or the value-in-use calculations. An impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is less than expected, a

material impairment loss may arise.

Provision for impairment of inventories

The Group reviews the carrying value of its inventories to ensure that they are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. In assessing the net realisable value and making appropriate allowances,
management identifies, using their judgement, inventories that are slow moving or obsolete, and

considering their physical conditions, age, market conditions and market price for similar items.

Income taxes

Most of the subsidiaries of the Group are subject to income taxes in the PRC. Significant judgment is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in the financial period in which such determination is

made.

Warranty provision

The Group generally offers one-year warranties for its machine tools and forklift trucks. Management
estimates the related provision for future warranty claims based on historical warranty claim information,
as well as recent trends that might suggest that past cost information may differ from future claims. The

estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

77
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive directors (the “Executive Directors”) of

the Company. The Executive Directors review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and

allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports reviewed by the

Executive Directors that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors consider that the Group has three reportable segments: (1) machine tools; (2) parking

garage structure; and (3) forklift trucks.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on their respective gross profit.

The Group does not allocate operating costs or assets to its segments, as the Executive Directors do not use this

information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the operating segments. Therefore, the Group

does not report a measure of profit and total assets for each reportable segment.

Parking

Machine Garage Forklift Total
Tools structures Trucks Group
RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended 31 December 2014
Revenue (all from external sales) 964,771 205,808 129,540 1,300,119
Cost of revenue (670,124) (167,124) (117,977) (955,225)
Segment profit 294,647 38,684 11,563 344,894
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Parking

Machine Garage Forklift Total
Tools structures Trucks Group
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

For the year ended 31 December 2013
Revenue (all from external sales) 1,001,923 202,480 145,868 1,350,271
Cost of revenue (742,987) (165,012) (132,501) (1,040,500)
Segment profit 258,936 37,468 13,367 309,771

Majority of the Group's operations and assets are located in the PRC and the Group mainly sells to the PRC market.

OTHER INCOME

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Sale of scrap materials 7,542 5,065
Net exchange gain - 3,040
Government subsidies 1,550 6,619
Repair income 6,646 4,924
Rental income from investment properties 2,108 65
Interest income 9,995 5,363
Others 5,679 3,662

33,520 28,738
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Cost of inventories sold 868,176 956,548
Sales commission 24,461 45,876
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 26,162 24,863
Depreciation of investment properties 20 21
Amortisation of intangible assets 415 319
Amortisation of land use rights 943 943
Operating lease rental on land and buildings 9,102 9,762
Employee benefit expenses 118,908 112,588
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts, net 15,306 2,649
Allowance for inventories, net 7,009 5,774
Auditor’s remuneration 1,410 1,578
Provision for warranty 6,766 4,936
Direct operating expenses arising from investment
properties that generated rental income 1,938 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 296 287
Net exchange loss 2,849 -
Research and development expenses*® 36,691 41,697
Transportation fees 13,772 13,790
Others 54,153 54,988
Total cost of revenue, distribution and selling expenses,
administrative expenses and other operating expenses 1,188,377 1,276,619
* Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, amortisation of intangible assets and employee benefit expenses

amounting to RMB1,898,000, RMB286,000 and RMB 11,232,000 were included in research and development expenses (2013:
RMB2,183,000, RMB356,000 and RMB11,116,000 respectively).
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION)

2014 2013
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Wages and salaries 82,483 79,217
Bonus 23,927 21,225
Welfare and other allowance 19,498 13,686
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 4,232 9,576
130,140 123,704
(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of each director is set out below:
Year ended 31 December 2014
Chu Chen Chiu Koo
Chih Hsiang- Chen Wen Rung-  Fook Sun, Chiang Yu
Yaung* Jung* Min-Ho  Chi-Tang Hsien Louis Chun-Te Yu-Tang Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Fees 653 653 144 144 144 200 100 100 2,138
Year ended 31 December 2013
Chu Chen Chiu Koo
Chih Hsiang- Chen Wen Rung-  Fook Sun, Chiang Yu
Yaung* Jung* Min-Ho  Chi-Tang Hsien Louis Chun-Te Yu-Tang Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Fees 180 180 144 144 144 164 82 82 1,120

# Chairman

* Chief executive officer
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, none (2013: none) was a director of the

Company. The emoluments of the five (2013: five) individuals were as follows:

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Basic salaries and allowances 1,926 2,248
Bonus 2,130 1,586
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 191 106
4,247 3,940

The emolument fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

RMB’000 RMB’000
Emolument bands (in HKD)
Less than HKD1,000,000 3 3
HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 — HKD2,000,000 1 1

HKD2,000,001- HKD2,500,000 - -
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 - -

During the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2014, none of the directors of the Company and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group (i) received any emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group; (i) received any compensation for loss of office as a director or management of any

member of the Group; or (jii) waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments.
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FINANCE COSTS

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Interest expense:

- Bank borrowings wholly repayable within one year 9,174 7,964

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Enterprise income tax 25,382 17,499
Deferred tax (note 33) (1,624) 21
23,758 17,520

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did not have any assessable profits arising in

Hong Kong for both years.

Enterprise income tax (“EIT") is provided at 25% for enterprises in the PRC except for Hangzhou Good Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. ("Hangzhou Good Friend”). In 2014, Hangzhou Good Friend renewed its New and
High-Tech Enterprise status, which has been approved by the relevant government authorities, and it is entitled
to a reduced tax rate of 15% for a three-year period commencing 2014. Accordingly, the applicable tax rate for
Hangzhou Good Friend in 2014 is 15% (2013: 15%).
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted

average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB’000
Profit before income tax 125,071 54,388
Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to
the principal operating entities of the Group 17,056 10,577
Tax effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,054 698
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (1,152) (372)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 2,162 1,618
Unrecognised temporary differences 2,820 -
Associate’s and joint ventures' results reported net of tax 1,818 4,999
Tax charge 23,758 17,520

11 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of approximately RMB43,871,000 (2013: loss of RMB2,095,000).

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB101,313,000 (2013: RMB36,868,000) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
of 403,200,000 (2013: 403,200,000).

2014 2013

Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB per share) 0.25 0.09

There were no potential dilutive shares in issue for both years.
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13 DIVIDENDS
2014 2013
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Interim dividend paid of RMB0.06 (2013: RMB0.05) per ordinary share 24,192 20,160
Proposed final dividend of RMBO0.06 (2013: RMBO0.05) per ordinary share 24,192 20,160
48,384 40,320

At a meeting of directors held on 27 March 2015, the directors resolved to recommend a final dividend of RMB0.06
(2013: RMBO0.05) per share for the year ended 31 December 2014. This proposed dividend was not recognised as
dividend payable in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 is to be declared out of the retained earnings of
the Company.

The aggregate amounts of the dividends paid and proposed during 2013 and 2014 have been disclosed in
the consolidated income statement in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

14 LAND USE RIGHTS - GROUP

The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating lease payments in the PRC held on leases of

between 10 to 50 years and their net book value are analysed as follows:

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

At 1 January 38,481 39,424
Amortisation (943) (943)
At 31 December 37,538 38,481

The Group has pledged its land use rights with carrying amounts of approximately RMB5,262,000 as at 31
December 2014 (2013: RMB5,394,000) to secure the general banking facilities (note 32) granted by the banks. As at
31 December 2014, the Group has utilised such secured bank facilities of RMB2,896,000 (2013: RMB1,250,000).
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a)

Group
Machinery  Office and
and computer Motor Construction
Buildings  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Cost
At 1 January 2013 193,932 158,484 29,738 19,042 16,909 418,105
Additions 729 717 961 1,374 5,792 9,573
Transfers 5,326 - - - (5,326) -
Transfer from investment

properties (note 16) 1,776 - - - - 1,776
Disposals (note 34) (48) (3,010 (848) (1,205) (5,000) (10,111)
At 31 December 2013 and

1 January 2014 201,715 156,191 29,851 19,211 12,375 419,343
Additions 35 3,774 674 3,597 1,381 9,461
Transfers - 1,773 939 - (2,712 -
Transfer to investment

properties (note 16) (10,221) - - - - (10,221)
Disposals (note 34) - (1,545) (1,386) (1,242) - 4,173)
At 31 December 2014 191,529 160,193 30,078 21,566 11,044 414,410
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment
At 1 January 2013 38,930 71,089 18,422 11,210 - 139,651
Provided for the year 9,093 12,477 2,158 3,318 - 27,046
Transfer from investment

properties (note 16) 703 - - - - 703
Disposals (note 34) (1) (2,445) (731) (970) - (4,157)
At 31 December 2013 and

1 January 2014 48,715 81,121 19,849 13,558 - 163,243
Provided for the year 9,281 2,922 2,351 3,506 - 28,060
Transfer to investment

properties (note 16) (1,031) - - - - (1,031)
Disposals (note 34) - (942) (1,249) (1,119 - (3,310
At 31 December 2014 56,965 93,101 20,951 15,945 - 186,962
Net book amount
At 31 December 2014 134,564 67,092 9,127 5,621 11,044 227,448
At 31 December 2013 153,000 75,070 10,002 5,653 12,375 256,100
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Group (Continued)

Depreciation expense of RMB20,073,000 (2013: RMB20,567,000) had been charged in ‘cost of goods sold’,
RMB1,559,000 (2013:RMB1,411,000) in ‘selling and marketing costs” and RMB6,428,000 (2013: RMB5,068,000) in

‘administrative expenses’ (note 7).

Lease rental expenses amounting to RMB9,102,000 (2013: RMB9,762,000) relating to leasing of properties
were included in the consolidated income statement (note 7). During the year, the Group entered into new
lease agreements of certain portions of its property, plant and equipment to rent them to related parties.
Accordingly, the relevant carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as at the date of change of

usage was transferred to investment properties.

The Group has pledged its buildings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB10,674,000 as at 31
December 2014 (2013: nil) to secure the general banking facilities (note 32) granted by the banks. As at 31
December 2014, the Group has utilised such secured bank facilities of RMB2,896,000 (2013: RMB1,250,000).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group is in the process of applying the building ownership certificate of certain
buildings with the aggregated cost accounted to RMB99,338,000 (31 December 2013: RMB99,938,000)

(b) Company

Office and
computer
equipment
RMB'000
Cost

At 1 January 2013 56
Additions 10
At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 66
Additions 1
At 31 December 2014 67

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2013 38

Provided for the year 7




88 GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. Annual Report 2014

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Company (Continued)

Office and
computer
equipment
RMB'000
At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 45
Provided for the year 14
At 31 December 2014 59
Net book amount
At 31 December 2014 8
At 31 December 2013 21
16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - GROUP
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
Opening net book amount at 1 January 249 1,343
Transfer from/(to) property, plant and equipment (note 15) 9,190 (1,073)
Depreciation (20) 21)
Closing net book amount at 31 December 9,419 249
(@) Amounts recognised in profit and loss for investment properties
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
Rental income (note 6) 2,108 65

Direct operating expenses from investment properties that

generated rental income (note 7)

(1,938) -

170 65
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Software
RMB’000

At 1 January 2013

Cost 8,865

Accumulated amortisation (7,459)

Net book amount 1,406
Year ended 31 December 2013

Opening net book amount 1,406

Additions 727

Amortisation charge (note 7) (675)
Closing net book amount 1,458
At 31 December 2013

Cost 9,592

Accumulated amortisation (8,134)
Net book amount 1,458
Year ended 31 December 2014

Opening net book amount 1,458

Additions 939

Amortisation charge (note 7) (701)
Closing net book amount 1,696
At 31 December 2014

Cost 10,531

Accumulated amortisation (8,835)
Net book amount 1,696

Amortisation of RMB418,000 (2013: RMB418,000) and RMB283,000 (2013: RMB257,000) have been charged in cost of

revenue and administrative expenses (note 7).
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18 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Investments — unlisted shares, at cost: 52,837 52,837
Amounts due from subsidiaries 331,264 331,616

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries of the Group at 31 December 2014:

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid-up share capital/
Name operation Principal activities registered capital Interest held
Directly held subsidiaries
Winning Steps Ltd BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
Usb110
Yu Hwa Holdings Ltd. BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
UsD1,500,000
Hai Sheng International BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
Holdings Inc USD200,000
Sky Thrive Investment Ltd BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
USD5,000,000
Kai Win Group Ltd BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares USD1 100%
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18 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid-up share capital/
Name operation Principal activities registered capital Interest held
Indirectly held subsidiaries
Full Moral Industrial Ltd Hong Kong Inactive Ordinary shares HKD1 100%
Winnings Steps Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
Development Ltd HKD1,000
Yu Hwa Hong Kong Enterprise Ltd ~ Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
HKD1,000
Hai Sheng International Hong Kong  Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
Ltd HKD1,000
Sky Thrive Hong Kong Enterprise  Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary shares 100%
Ltd HKD1,000
Hangzhou Good Friend Precision PRC Design and production of Registered Capital 100%
Machinery Co Ltd computer numerical control UsD11,000,000
machine tools, design
and construction of three
dimensional car parking
garage structure
Hangzhou Global Friend Precision ~ PRC Design and assembling of Registered Capital 100%
Machinery Co Ltd forklift trucks USD10,000,000
Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision PRC Design and production of Registered Capital 100%
Machinery Co Ltd computer numerical control USD3,000,000
machine tools
Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery ~ PRC Processing of computer Registered Capital 100%
Technology Co., Ltd numerical control machine USD15,000,000
tools
Rich Friend (Shanghai) Precision PRC Trading of computer numerical ~ Registered Capital 100%
Machinery Co Ltd control machine tools USD200,000



92 GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. Annual Report 2014

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Investments in joint ventures
At beginning of the year 17,576 18,093 24,427 20,969
Capital injection (Note) 3,239 3,458 3,239 3,458
Share of loss of joint ventures (2,458) (3,975) - -
At end of year 18,357 17,576 27,666 24,427
Amounts due from joint ventures 891 1,498 - -

As at 31 December 2014, the Company had direct interests in the following joint ventures as follows:

Date of Principal activities/
incorporation/ Attributable Registered  Nature of place of incorporation
Name establishment equity interest capital  relationship and operation
2014 2013
Anest lwata Feeler Corporation 23 November 2009 35% 35% USD9,000,000  Note 37 Manufacture and sales
("AIF") of air compressor and
parts, PRC
Hangzhou Nippon Cable 20 October 2010 50% 50% USD100,000  Note 37 Wholesale and export
Feeler Corporation of parking garage
("Nippon Cable Feeler") structures, PRC
Hangzhou Feeler 14 April 2011 45% 45% USD1,110,000  Note 37 Manufacture and sales
Mectron Machinery of machine tools and
Co., Ltd (“Feeler Mectron”) related products, PRC
Hangzhou Union Friend Machinery 15 March 2013 55% 55% USD1,000,000  Note 37 Manufacture and sales
Co., Ltd. ("UFM") of machine tools and

related products, PRC
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19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES — GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

In May 2014, the Company contributed approximately USD525,000 (equivalent to RMB3,239,000) as additional registered capital in
AlF. AIF was jointly established in 2009 by the Company, Anest Iwata Corporation (“AIC"), a third party company, and Anest lwata
Taiwan ("AIT"), which is a joint venture of the Company'’s ultimate holding company. After the additional capital injections made

by the Company, equity interests held by the Company, AIC and AIT in AIF are 35%, 35% and 30% respectively.

In March 2013, the Company contributed approximately USD 550,000 (equivalent to RMB3,458,000) paid-in capital into UFM which
was established by four parties, including the Company, Takamatsu Machinery Co., Ltd., Yamasan Tekko Co., Ltd. and Sumizawa
Tekko Co., Ltd. which are all third party companies. Equity interests held by each company as of 31 December 2013 and 31
December 2014 were 55%, 15%, 15% and 15%, respectively.

Summarised financial information for joint ventures

Set out below are the summarised financial information for the joint ventures which are accounted for using equity
method.

Summarised balance sheet

AIF Nippon Cable Feeler Feeler Mectron UFM Total

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

Current
Cash 3,971 2,115 869 808 998 312 377 1,298 6,215 4,533
Other current asset 12,979 10,312 1 1 5,551 6,838 279 161 18,810 17,312
Total current assets 16,950 12,427 870 809 6,549 7,150 656 1,459 25,025 21,845
Short term borrowings (6,084) (5,038) - - - - - - (6,084) (5,038)
Other financial liabilities

(including trade payable) (4,180) (4,493) (12) m (1,885) (2,940) 418 443 (5,659) (6,99)
Total current liabilities (10,264) (9,531) (12) m (1,885) (2,940) 418 443 (11,743) (12,029)

Non-current
Assets 37,666 38,178 - - 51 589 2,944 3,258 41,121 42,025
Financial liabilities (6,097) (6,290 - - - - - - (6,097) (6,290)

Total non-current liabilities (6,097) (6,290) - - - - - - (6,097) (6,290)

Net assets 38,255 34,784 858 808 5,175 4,799 4,018 5,160 48,306 45,551




94 GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. Annual Report 2014

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES — GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

AlIF Nippon Cable Feeler Feeler Mectron UFM Total

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

Revenue 33,169 17,935 129 137 6,449 2,533 310 88 40,057 20,693
Cost of goods sold (36,153) (23,925) (4) - (5,918) (2,667) (872) (542)  (42,947) (27,134)
Other expense (2,799) (2,879) (59) (60) (155) (503) (580) (673) (3,593) (4,115)
Profit/(loss) before tax (5,783) (8,869) 66 77 376 (637) (1,142) (1,127) (6,483) (10,556)
Income tax expense - - (16) (5) - - - - (16) (5
Profit/(loss) for the year (5,783) (8,869) 50 72 376 (637) (1,142) (1,127) (6,499) (10,561)
Share of profit/(loss) of

joint ventures (2,024) (3,104) 25 36 169 (287) (628) (620) (2,458) (3,975)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its investments in joint
ventures.

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its investments in joint

ventures.

Summarised financial information

AIF Nippon Cable Feeler Feeler Mectron UFM Total

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

Opening net assets

as at 1 January 2014 34,784 43,653 808 736 4,799 5,436 5,160 - 45,551 49,825
Capital injection 9,254 - - - - - - 6,287 9,254 6,287
Profit (loss)/for the year (5,783) (8,869) 50 72 376 (637) (1,142) (1,127) (6,499) (10,561)

Closing net assets

as at 31 December 2014 38,255 34,784 858 808 5175 4,799 4,018 5160 48,306 45,551
Equity interest 35% 35% 50% 50% 45% 45% 55% 55% - -
Investment in joint ventures 13,389 12174 429 404 2,329 2,160 2,210 2838 18,357 17,576

Carrying value
as at 31 December 13,389 12,174 429 404 2,329 2,160 2,210 2,838 18,357 17,576
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20 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Beginning of the year 9,604 -
Additions - 32,260
Share of loss (8,559) (26,321)
Share of other comprehensive income 162 3,665
End of the year 1,207 9,604
As at 31 December 2014, the Group has interests in the following associate:
Place of
business/
country of % of ownership Nature of Measurement
Name incorporation  Principal activities interest relationship method
31 December 2014 and 2013
FFG Europe S.p.A. ("FFG Europe”) Italy Manufacture and sales of machine  30.16% Note 37 Equity

tools and related products

The formation of FFG Europe was completed on 1 January 2013 and it is owned approximately as to 30.16% by Sky
Thrive Hong Kong Enterprise Limited (“Sky Thrive”) (a subsidiary of the Company), 15.05% by Golden Friendship
International Limited (“Golden Friendship”) (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company’s ultimate holding
company), 14.79% by World Ten Limited (“World Ten") (11.76% of its issued share capital held by the Company’s
ultimate holding company), and 40% by Alma S.r.| (an independent third party).

There are two representations of the Group in the board of directors of FFG Europe and the Group has significant
influence in FFG Europe. Accordingly, the Group accounted for such investment as an associate in the financial

statements.
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20 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of an associate

Summarised balance sheet

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB'000
Current
Cash 32,989 29,794
Other current assets 408,867 546,909
Total current assets 441,856 576,703
Short term borrowings (182,729) (154,049)
Other financial liabilities (including trade payable) (331,876) (490,040)
Total current liabilities (514,605) (644,089)
Non-current
Assets 153,369 176,132
Financial liabilities (76,618) (76,902)
Net assets 4,003 31,844
Summarised statement of comprehensive income

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000
Revenue 521,112 643,330
Cost of goods sold (268,077) (375,887)
Other expenses (285,602) (352,836)
Loss before tax (32,567) (85,393)
Income tax expense 4,189 (1,877)
Loss for the year (28,378) (87,270)

Share of loss of an associate (8,559) (26,321)
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20 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its investment in an

associate.

Summarised financial information

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

Opening net assets as at 1 January 31,844 -
Capital injection - 91,494
Other reserves 537 27,620
Loss for the year (28,378) (87,270)
Closing net assets as at 31 December 4,003 31,844
Equity interest 30.16% 30.16%
Investment in an associate 1,207 9,604

Carrying value as at 31 December 1,207 9,604
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY - GROUP AND COMPANY
(@) Group
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet

31 December 2014

Loans and Available-
receivables for-sale 2014
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Debtors and deposits excluding prepayments 488,316 - 488,316
Available-for-sale financial asset - 571 571
Amounts due from and prepayment to fellow
subsidiaries and an associate of ultimate
holding company 296 - 298
Amount due from an investee 12,525 - 12,525
Amount due from ultimate holding company 532 - 532
Amount due from joint ventures 891 - 891
Amount due from subsidiaries of an associate 12,274 - 12,274
Restricted bank deposits 134,681 - 134,681
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) 262,751 - 262,751
Term deposits with initial term of
over three months (note 27) 98,000 - 98,000
Total 1,010,266 571 1,010,837
31 December 2013
Loans and Available-
receivables for-sale 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Debtors and deposits excluding prepayments 603,344 - 603,344
Available-for-sale financial asset - 571 571
Amounts due from and prepayment to fellow
subsidiaries and an associates of ultimate
holding company 1,786 - 1,786
Amount due from an investee 13,988 - 13,988
Amount due from ultimate holding company 1,912 - 1,912
Amount due from joint ventures 1,498 - 1,498
Amount due from subsidiaries of an associate 12,495 - 12,495
Restricted bank deposits 60,167 - 60,167
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) 211,829 - 211,829
Term deposits with initial term of
over three months (note 27) 24,000 - 24,000

Total 931,019 571 931,590
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY — GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

(a)

Group (Continued)

Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet

Other financial liabilities
at amortised cost

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Creditors, other payables and accrued charges 410,211 449,133
Amount due to ultimate holding company 1,716 1,029
Amount due to immediate holding company 3,447 2,156
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary and an associate of
ultimate holding company 784 321
Amount due to subsidiaries of an associate 1,128 293
Amount due to joint ventures 76 131
Borrowings (note 32) 402,079 367,752
Total 819,441 820,815
Company

Assets as per balance sheet

Loans and receivables

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Debtors and deposits excluding prepayments 14,655 8,694
Amounts due from subsidiaries 331,264 331,616
Restricted bank deposits 2,370 2,052
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) 1,784 1,618

Total

350,073 343,980
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY — GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Company (Continued)
Liabilities as per balance sheet

Other financial liabilities
at amortised cost

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

Other payables and accrued charges 13,934 20,454
Borrowings (note 32) 275,706 269,214
Total 289,640 289,668

22 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000

Trade debtors and bills receivables 500,438 589,106 14,631 8,671
Less: provision for impairment of trade

receivables (36,544) (21,795) - -

Trade receivables — net 463,894 567,311 14,631 8,671

Prepayments 25,667 19,209 227 9,713

Others 24,422 36,033 24 23

Total debtors, deposits and prepayments 513,983 622,553 14,882 18,407

The Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 180 days to its customers. The Group also allows its customers
to retain certain percentage of the outstanding balances as retention money for a one-year warranty period of the

products sold.
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22 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

At 31 December 2014 and 2013, the ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable based on due date was as

follows:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000
Current - 30 days 383,483 488,597 14,631 8,671
31 - 60 days 5,141 6,679 - -
61-90 days 11,542 13,683 - -
91 - 180 days 20,366 21,392 - -
Over 180 days 79,906 58,755 - -
500,438 589,106 14,631 8,671

Included in the Group’s trade debtors are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB108,229,000 (2013: RMB110,084,000) which were past due as at 31 December 2014 but the Group had not

provided for impairment loss. The directors, after considering the trade relationship, credit status and past

settlement history of these individual trade debtors, had concluded that these outstanding balances would be

recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade debtors of the Group which are past due but not impaired:

Group

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

0 - 30 days 21,658 27,521
31 - 60 days 5,141 6,679
61 - 90 days 11,542 13,683
91 - 180 days 20,336 21,391
Over 180 days 49,552 40,810

108,229 110,084
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22 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS — GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

As of 31 December 2014, trade debtors of RMB36,544,000 (2013: RMB21,795,000) of the Group were impaired and
provided for. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers which are in unexpected financial

difficulties. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000

0 - 30 days 641 3,849
31 - 60 days - -
61 - 90 days - -
91 - 180 days 30 1
Over 6 months 35,873 17,945
36,544 21,795

Movements of provision for impairment of trade receivables of the Group are as follows:

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB’000

At 1 January 21,795 23,240

Provision for receivables impairment 15,306 2,649
Receivables written off during the year when proved

to be uncollectible (557) (4,094)

At 31 December 36,544 21,795

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in ‘other operating expenses’ in
the consolidated income statement (note 7). Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off,

when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The Company had not provided for impairment loss against its trade debtors as at 31 December 2014 (2013: nil).
The Company'’s trade debtors were neither passed due nor impaired as at 31 December 2014 (2013: nil).

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
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22 DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

23

The carrying amounts of debtors, deposits and prepayments are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
RMB 479,582 592,047 - -
US dollar 17,980 12,419 3,303 425
Euro 11,329 14,917 11,327 14,912
Other currencies 5,092 3,170 252 3,070
513,983 622,553 14,882 18,407

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable

mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET

2014 2013

RMB’'000 RMB'000

At 1 January 571 -
Addition - 571
At 31 December 571 571
Investment in shares of an unlisted company 571 571
Amount due from an investee 12,525 13,988
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23 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET (Continued)

As at 31 December 2014, available-for-sale financial asset includes the following:

Particulars of

Country of issued
Name incorporation Principal activities shares held Interest held
FFG Werke GmbH Germany Manufacturing and distribution 67,500 13.5%
("FFG Werke") of machine tools, spare parts and

accessories; providing training and
maintenance service for machine tools
and products.

FFG Werke is owned approximately as to 43.75% by World Ten, 33.75% by Golden Friendship, 13.50% by Sky Thrive
and 9.00% by Golden Wealth Inc Limited (an independent third party).

As at 31 December 2014, Sky Thrive has provided a shareholder’s loan of Euro1,654,050 (equivalent RMB12,525,000)
(2013: Euro1,654,050 (equivalent RMB13,988,000)) to FFG Werke which is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

On 9 July 2014, FFG Werke and Sky Thrive entered into a guarantee procurement deed, pursuant to which Sky
Thrive agreed to procure the issuance of the bank guarantees for the business operation of FFG Werke with
maximum aggregate amount not exceeding Euro10,600,000 (equivalent RMB79,030,000). As at 31 December 2014,
Sky Thrive has arranged the aforesaid bank guarantees of total amount of Euro226,000 (equivalent RMB1,680,0000).
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, Sky Thrive has further provided bank guarantees and the total amount
under all bank guarantees is now Euro6,464,000 (equivalent RMB48,190,000) in 2015.

On 20 December 2013, Sky Thrive agreed to arrange a letter of guarantee bank guarantees with a maximum
amount of Euro 2,800,000 (approximately RMB23,673,000) to secure the corresponding amount of the credit
facilities to be provided by certain banks to FFG Werke. As at 31 December 2014, Sky Thrive has arranged
irrecoverable letters of guarantee of total amount of Euro2,745,000 (equivalent RMB20,466,000).

As at 31 December 2014, none of the abovementioned bank guarantees had been enforced by the issuing banks
(2013: none).

Management consider that the Group has no significant influence or control on FFG Werke and hence the

investment has been accounted for as an available-for-sale financial asset as at 31 December 2014.

As at 31 December 2014, the unlisted equity investment in FFG Werke with a carrying amount of RMB571,000
(2013: RMB571,000) was stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not

intend to dispose of it in the near future.
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24 INVENTORIES - GROUP

2014 2013

RMB'000 RMB’000

Raw materials 103,419 124,777
Work in progress 68,470 69,931
Finished goods 103,064 94,995
274,953 289,703

Provision (17,696) (10,687)
257,257 279,016

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in ‘cost of revenue’ amounted to RMB868,176,000,
(2013: RMB956,548,000) (note 7).

25 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK - GROUP

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 210,070 173,630
Less: Progress billings (220,376) (198,938)
(10,306) (25,308)

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due from contract customers 32,494 24,651
Amounts due to contract customers (42,800) (49,959)
Net amounts due to customers for contract work (10,306) (25,308)

As at 31 December 2014, retention money held by customers for contract work included in debtors amounted to
RMB12,325,000 (2013: RMB7,207,000).
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26 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS — GROUP AND COMPANY

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Restricted bank deposits 134,681 60,167 2,370 2,052

The amounts mainly represent deposits placed in banks for guarantees issued for trade finance facilities used by
the Group. The deposits have a maturity period within one year and they carry fixed rate interest at 0.4% (2013:

0.4%) per annum.

27 CASH AND BANK BALANCES - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

Cash at bank and on hand 111,976 41,278 1,784 1,618

Short-term bank deposits 150,775 170,551 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 262,751 211,829 1,784 1,618
Term deposits with initial term of

over three months 98,000 24,000 - -

360,751 235,829 1,784 1,618

(@) The cash at bank and on hand, short-term deposit and term deposit with initial term of over three months are

denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RMB 357,423 231,732 2 204
US dollar 1,887 3,016 467 636
Euro 957 318 955 317
Other currencies 484 763 360 461

360,751 235,829 1,784 1,618
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27 CASH AND BANK BALANCES — GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

(b) The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits is 2.35% (2013: 2.60%) per annum. These deposits have
a maturity ranging from one to three months.

(c) The effective interest rate on term deposits with initial term of over three months ranged from 2.35% to 2.75%

(2013: 2.85% to 3.25%) per annum. These deposits have a maturity ranging from three to twelve months.

28 SHARE CAPITAL - GROUP AND COMPANY

Number of Nominal
shares value
(thousands) RMB'000
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each
Authorised:
At 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013, 1 January 2014 and
31 December 2014 1,000,000 10,211

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013, 1 January 2014 and
31 December 2014 403,200 4,022
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29 RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY

Group
Other reserves
Enterprise
Share Capital General ~ expansion Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve  Translation profits Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 1 January 2013 122,601 77,338 35,836 9,089 (3,154) 416,159 657,869
Dividends paid (40,320 - - - - - (40,320)
Profit for the year - - - - - 36,868 36,868
Share of other

comprehensive income of

an associate - - 3,665 - - - 3,665
Currency translation

difference - - - - 10,896 - 10,896
At 31 December 2013 82,281 77,338 39,501 9,089 7,742 453,027 668,978
Dividends paid - - - - - (44,352) (44,352)
Profit for the year - - - - - 101,313 101,313
Share of other

comprehensive income of

an associate - - - - 162 - 162
Currency translation

difference - - - - (3,428) - (3,428)
At 31 December 2014 82,281 77,338 39,501 9,089 4,476 509,988 722,673
Note:

(i) Under Section 34(2) of the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company paying dividends to members provided that no dividend may be
paid to members out of the share premium account unless, immediately following the date on which the dividend proposed

to be paid, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
(i) Capital reserve represents the difference between the paid-in capital/share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries
acquired at the consideration of nominal value of the Company's shares issued during the time of the corporate

reorganisation of the Group prior to the listing of the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

(i)  General reserve and enterprise expansion reserve are set up in accordance with statutory requirements in the PRC.
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29 RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

30

Company
Share Other Retained

premium reserve profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
At 1 January 2013 123,101 8,941 48,655 180,697
Dividends paid (40,005) - - (40,005)
Currency translation difference - (1,309) - (1,309)
Loss for the year - - (2,095) (2,095)
At 31 December 2013 83,096 7,632 46,560 137,288
Dividends paid - - (44,352) (44,352)
Currency translation difference - 341 - 341
Profit for the year - - 43,872 43,872
At 31 December 2014 83,096 7,973 46,080 137,149

CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES — GROUP AND COMPANY
Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Trade creditors 204,785 218,424 9,129 4,365
Advance deposits from customers 118,682 161,632 370 11,780
Other payables 41,847 33,308 - -
Accrued expenses 44,897 35,769 4,435 4,309
410,211 449133 13,934 20,454
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30 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES - GROUP AND COMPANY
(Continued)

The Group normally receives credit terms of 30 to 60 days. At 31 December 2014 and 2013, the ageing analysis of

the trade payables was as follows:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Current — 30 days 116,788 147,068 9.129 4,365
31-60 days 57,515 47,603 - -
61 -90 days 4,657 9,841 - -
91 - 180 days 9,853 10,450 - -
Over 180 days 15,972 3,462 - -
204,785 218,424 9,129 4,365

Creditors, other payables and accrued charges are dominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000
RMB 388,246 423,231 - -
US dollars 11,029 8,464 3,104 3,092
Euro 6,368 13,124 6,292 13,049
HK dollars 4,568 4,314 4,538 4,313

410,211 449,133 13,934 20,454
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WARRANTY PROVISION - GROUP

2014 2013
RMB’'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 6,774 6,702
Provision for the year 6,766 4,936
Utilisation of provision (7,211) (4,864)
At 31 December 6,329 6,774
BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY
Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Current
- Secured (note(a)) 125,331 90,115 122,435 88,865
— Unsecured (note(b)) 276,748 277,637 153,271 180,349
Total borrowings 402,079 367,752 275,706 269,214
The range of effective interest rates of the Group's borrowing is as follows:
Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Effective interest rates 1.83% t0 6.72%  1.80% 10 6.72% 1.83% t0 3.60%  1.80% to 3.05%
per annum per annum per annum per annum
At 31 December 2014, the Group's borrowings were repayable as follows:
Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Within 1 year 402,079 367,752 275,706 269,214

1
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32 BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HK dollars 78,949 96,956 58,572 76,646
US dollars 323,130 270,796 217,134 192,568
402,079 367,752 275,706 269,214

The Group had the following undrawn borrowing facilities as at 31 December 2014:

Group
2014 2013
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Floating rate loans:
- Expiring within one year 692,723 658,958

Note:

(a)

The Group has pledged its land use rights with carrying amounts of approximately RMB5,262,000 (note 14) (2013:
RMBS5,394,000) and buildings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB10,674,000 (note 15) (2013: nil)as at 31 December
2014 to secure the general banking facilities granted to it. As at 31 December 2014, the Group has utilised such secured
bank facilities of RMB2,896,000 (2013: RMB1,250,000).

As at 31 December 2014, the Company's bank borrowings of RMB152,975,000 (2013 RMB103,660,000) were secured by
irrevocable standby letter of credits issued by banks in the PRC of which RMB122,435,000 (2013: RMB88,865,000) has been
utilised.

As at 31 December 2014, the Company has given corporate guarantees for the banking facilities granted to certain
subsidiaries amounting to RMB235,582,000 (2013: RMB265,215,000) of which RMB126,382,000 (2013: RMB98,538,000) has
been utilised.

As at 31 December 2014, cross guarantees between subsidiaries of RMB220,000,000 (2013: RMB225,000,000) have been
provided to secure the bank borrowings of which RMB6,211,000 balance has been utilised (2013: nil).

As at 31 December 2014, a personal guarantee was provided by a director of the Company in respect of the Company'’s
bank borrowings of RMB31,135,000 (2013: RMB35,028,000).

The facilities expiring within one year are annual facilities granted by banks which are subject to review at various dates
throughout 2014.
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33 DEFERRED INCOME TAX - GROUP

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Group
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Deferred tax assets:
— Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 6,144 4,520
Deferred tax liabilities:
— Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months - -
— Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months 16,118 18,775
16,118 18,775
The movement on the deferred income tax assets during the year are as follows:
Group
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’'000
At 1 January 4,520 4,541
Credit/(Charge) to consolidated statement of comprehensive income 1,624 (21)
At 31 December 6,144 4,520
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33 DEFERRED INCOME TAX — GROUP (Continued)

Group
Allowance
for doubtful Allowance Warranty
Deferred tax assets receivables  for inventories provision Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2014 3,243 377 921 4,541
(Charge)/Credit to consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (18) i) (14) 1)
At 31 December 2014 3,225 388 907 4,520
(Charge)/Credit to consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 1,495 224 (95) 1,624
At 31 December 2014 4,720 612 812 6,144

The gross movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are analysed as follows:

Group
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
At 1 January 18,775 23,180
Withholding tax paid (2,657) -
Disposal of a subsidiary - (4,405)

At 31 December 16,118 18,775
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33 DEFERRED INCOME TAX — GROUP (Continued)

Group

Withholding tax

On distributable

profit of

subsidiaries Business

Deferred tax liabilities in the PRC combination Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2013 18,775 4,405 23,180
Disposal of a subsidiary - (4,405) (4,405)
At 31 December 2013 18,775 - 18,775
Withholding tax paid (2,657) - (2,657)
At 31 December 2014 16,118 - 16,118

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6 December 2007, withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the companies
established in the PRC to their foreign investors starting from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes at the rate of 5% on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in

respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
As at 31 December 2014, the Group had unutilised tax losses of approximately RMB48,429,000 (2013:
RMB50,855,000) available for offsetting against future profits. No deferred tax asset had been recognised as it is not

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

The expiry dates of these tax losses are as follows:

2014 2013
RMB’'000 RMB'000

With expiry in:
2014 - 6,142
2015 1,590 1,595
2016 16,755 16,482
2017 13,043 14,758
2018 6,946 11,878

2019 8,648 -
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34 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Profit before income tax 125,071 54,388
Adjustments for:
— Amortisation of land use rights (note 14) 943 943
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15) 28,060 27,046
— Depreciation of investment properties (note 16) 20 21
— Amortisation of intangible assets (note 17) 701 675
— Share of loss of joint ventures (note 19) 2,458 3,975
— Share of loss of an associate (note 20) 8,559 26,321
— Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 7) 296 287
— Loss on disposal of a subsidiary and an associate - 9,742
— Interest income (note 6) (9,995) (5,363)
— Finance costs (note 9) 9,174 7,964
Changes in working capital (excluding the effects of acquisition and
exchange differences on consolidation):
— Inventories 21,759 75,529
— Debtors, deposits and prepayments 109,177 (7,326)
— Amounts due from customers for contract work (7,843) 3,251
— Amount due from ultimate holding company 1,380 (1,912)
— Amounts due from a fellow subsidiary and an associate of
ultimate holding company 1,490 588
— Creditors, other payables and accrued charges (46,030) 49,582
— Amounts due to customers for contract work (7,159) 12,480
— Amount due to ultimate holding company 687 (4,869)
— Amount due to immediate holding company 1,291 176
— Amount due to joint ventures (55) 131
— Balances with an investee and subsidiaries of an associate 2,519 (12,312)
— Amount due to a fellow subsidiary and an associate of
ultimate holding company 463 (1,590)
— Warranty provision (445) 72
Cash generated from operations 242,521 239,799
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34 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Continued)

35

36

In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

2014 2013
Group RMB’000 RMB'000
Net book amount (note 15) 863 5,954
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 7) (296) (287)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 567 5,667

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

Saved as disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group and the Company have no other
contingent liability as at 31 December 2014 (2013: nil).

COMMITMENTS

(a)

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred is analysed as

follows:
2014 2013
Group RMB’'000 RMB'000
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:
— Acquisition of machinery and equipment 743 984

Operating lease commitments
The Group as lessee

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease
cancellable operating leases as follows:

payments under non-

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

No later than 1 year 4,090 2,650
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 241 54
4,331 2,704

17
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37 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Save as disclosed in Note 23, the Group also had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

(a) Transactions

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Fair Friend Enterprise Ultimate holding Sales of goods 682 720
Company Limited company
("Fair Friend") Purchases of goods 19,948 18,592
Hangzhou Feeler Takamatsu Associate of ultimate Sales of goods 756 601
Machinery Co., Ltd. holding company
("Feeler Takamatsu") Purchases of goods 49 4
Rental income 15 65
Good Friend (H. K.) Immediate holding Purchases of goods 44,434 87,352
Corporation Limited company
("Hong Kong GF")
Hangzhou Fair Fine Electric  Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods B8 8
& Machinery Co., Ltd.
(“Fair Fine") Rental income 653 -
AlF (controlled by Mr. Wen  Joint venture Sales of goods 90 45
Chi-Tang)
Purchases of goods 421 141
Rental income 26 -
Hangzhou Best Friend Associate of ultimate Sales of goods 6 12
Technology Co., Ltd. holding company

("Best Friend")
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37 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)

(a) Transactions (Continued)

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000
SANCO Machine & Tools  Fellow subsidiary Purchases of goods 20,885 12,095
Co., Ltd.("SANCO")
Jobs Automazione Subsidiary of an Purchases of goods 198 -
S.p.A("Jobs") associate of the Group
SIGMA technology S.r.l Subsidiary of an Purchase of goods - 4,622
("SIGMA™) associate of the Group
Feeler Mectron Joint venture Sales of goods 37 140
Purchases of goods 1,051 1,049
Rental income 36 -
UFM Jointly controlled entity  Sales of goods 24 -
Purchase of goods 170
Sky Thrive Rambaudi Subsidiary of an Sales of goods - 6
S.r.l (“Rambaudi”) associate of the Group
Nippon Cable Feeler Joint venture Sales of goods 4 8
Purchase of goods 129 -
Rental income 6 -

Note:

(@) The terms of the above sale and purchase transactions are governed based on framework agreements entered into between

the Company and the respective related parties.

(b)  Rental income was charged at terms mutually agreed between the parties.
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37 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)

(b) Balances

Name of company Relationship Nature of balances 2014 2013

RMB'000 RMB'000

Fair Friend Ultimate holding Trade receivable 532 1,912
company (note (a))

Trade payable (1,716) (1,029)
(note (b))

Hong Kong GF Immediate holding Trade payable (3,447) (2,156)
company (note (b))

Fair Fine (controlled by Fellow subsidiary Other receivable 258 152
Mr. Chen Min-Ho) (note (b))

SANCO Fellow subsidiary Trade receivable - 1,616
(note (a))

Trade payable (776) (321)
(note (b))

Best Friend Associate of ultimate Trade receivables 2 -
holding company (note (a))

Feeler Takamatsu Associate of ultimate Other receivable 36 18
holding company (note (b))

Trade payable (8) -
(note (b))

AlF (controlled by Joint venture Trade receivable 470 1,093
Mr. Wen Chi-Tang) (note (a))

Trade payable - 41
(note (b))

Feeler Mectron Joint venture Trade receivable 421 405
(note (a))

Trade payable - (90)
(note (b))

UFM Joint venture Trade payable (76) -
(note (b))

SIGMA Subsidiary of an Trade receivable 2,275 2,569
associate of the (note (a))

Group

Trade payable (200) (226)
(note (b))

SIGMA Machinery Co., Ltd Subsidiary of an Trade payable (67) (67)

associate of the
Group

(note (b))
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37 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Continued)

(b) Balances (Continued)

Name of company Relationship Nature of balances 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000
Jobs Subsidiary of an Trade receivable 403 330
associate of the (note (a))
Group
Other receivable 9,596 -
(note (b))
Trade payable (861) -
(note (b))
Rambaudi Subsidiary of an Other receivable - 9,596
associate of the (note (b))

Group

Notes:

(@) The Group allowed a normal credit period of 90 days for sales made to the fellow subsidiaries, the ultimate holding

company and its associate company, and subsidiaries of associated company. Balances are unsecured and interest free.

As of 31 December 2014 and 2013, the ageing of above balances was mostly within 6 to 12 months.

(b) Balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(c) Key management compensation

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
Salaries and other allowances 4,078 3,440

38 HOLDING COMPANIES

The directors regard Good Friend (H.K.) Corporation Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and Fair

Friend Enterprise Company Limited, a company incorporated in Taiwan, as being the immediate holding company

and the ultimate holding company respectively.

39 EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Save as disclosed in Note 23, the Company and the Group have no other significant events occurred after the

balance sheet date.

121



122 GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. Annual Report 2014

Five-Year Financial Summary

OPERATING RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

Revenue 1,374,183 1,884,132 1,540,856 1,350,271 1,300,119

Gross profit 355,535 439,216 308,947 309,771 344,894

Profit before taxation 193,806 197,032 60,440 54,388 125,071
Profit for the year attributable to

equity holders of the Company 158,746 153,690 42,022 36,868 101,313

Earnings per share - basic (RMB) 0.41 0.38 0.10 0.09 0.25
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 322,262 371,929 345,271 330,119 302,380

Net current assets 318,503 332,239 339,800 361,656 440,433

Total assets less current liabilities 640,765 704,168 685,071 691,775 742,813

Share capital 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022

Reserves 614,341 678,346 657,869 668,978 722,673

Shareholders’ equity 618,363 682,368 661,891 673,000 726,695

Non-current liabilities 22,402 21,800 23,180 18,775 16,118

640,765 704,168 685,071 691,775 742,813
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AR iE
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ARET T ARETF T AREF T ARET T
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Wz (HREINEPHE) 1,001,923 202,480 145,868 1,350,271
Wz A AR (742,987) (165,012) (132,501) (1,040,500)
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fHEEER 7.542 5,065
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M WEREREITE 26,162 24,863
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EERAMAX 118,908 112,588
RIZIREE T 15,306 2,649
FERE F58 7,009 5,774
% ELRD B & 1,410 1,578
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EHEA 13,772 13,790
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RETEH (7,459)
REEE 1,406
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NE 727
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R-E—=F+=ZH=+—H
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MRE RN T

—2-mEF —T=F
AR¥T T ARBEFTTT
BE—AREMBRD ARG 52,837 52,837
P& W5 Ff /BB X B R IE 331,264 331,616
WM B AR A RERR R NARERBEER-
RZEB-—MOF+_A=+—H AEENTEMNBLRRNT:
EMmsL BRTRBERE
1 mewe TEXK HEMER HEER
ERRENEAR
KEBRAA HBRAEE REEK L@R1M0ET 100%
RERRABR A RERUEE REERRK @Ak 1,500,000% 7T 100%
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AERERRAA HBRAEE REEK &3 %5,000,000% 7T 100%
EBEEEARAA RERUEE RERRK EmRIET 100%
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HMRL ERTREAZKRAE,

28 R B ITEER HBEAX BEERS

BESEHELR

BREERR AT B8 BE TRRVETT 100%

KERBBEERAR o BEm 331,000 T 100%

REBBEERERRAT B8 wEER 38 A%1,000 7T 100%

BEEBREEERAR B8 REER TEAT1,0008 7T 100%

AEEAEEERAR 0 BE 331,000 T 100%

MMR ERZ AR AR I RAMAEESKER M THE . FHER 100%

REtREE BIEERE 11,000,000 7T

MM E S EZHE R AT HE BEPEESE HMER 100%
10,000,000% 7T

MM AR ZE BT ER AR i RARAESHKETNTHE FHER 100%
3,000,000 7T
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MRE RN T

rEE PN
—E-NF —F—= —E-mF —ZT—=
AR®ET R ARET T ARET ARET T

REErENKRE

F1 17,576 18,093 24,427 20,969

ENEAR (W) 3,239 3458 3,239 3,458

DEEERRER (2,458) (3,975) - -

FH 18,357 17,576 27,666 24,427
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RZE-—MFE+_A=+—B ARARTIEErERFEEE R

EMmAL TEEK/
a8 R AH 2 EN AMES BELE AR LB RER
—E-MF —T-=F

Anest Iwata Feeler Corporation ZETHE 35% 35%  9,000000%7T K37 HEREERERANTH
(TAIF]) +—A=+=H A

Hangzhou Nippon Cable —Z-%F 50% 50% 100,000 7T P37 RHERHAGERE F
Feeler Corporation +A=+H
(INippon Cable Feeler |)

Hangzhou Feeler Mectron —E——F 45% 45%  1,110000%7  FiEE37 HERHEEMIER R
Machinery Co., Ltd mA+mA HFEER PE
([Feeler Mectron J)

Hangzhou Union Friend —T-=% 55% 55%  1,000000%7  KiEE37 HERHEMTHR K
Machinery Co., Ltd. (TUFM]) =At1A BHER PE



93 XEEBREZERBERAIA —F—HFEFH

ARE R RAN T

19 REEBLEMNKRE-XEBEREXD T (&)

GEE
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HEINE AT E % ART] AICKAITS BIRNAIFEEE35% - 35% J30%H% 1 ©
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Re 3,971 2,115 869 808 998 312 377 1,298 6,215 4,533
At RBEE 12,979 10,312 1 1 5,551 6,838 279 161 18,810 17,312
mEBEERE 16,950 12,427 870 809 6,549 7,150 656 1,459 25,025 21,845
BEEE (6,084) (5,038) - - - - - - (6,084) (5,038)
HEteRERE
(REERNESHE) (4,180) (4,493) (12) (1) (1,885) (2,940) 418 443 (5,659) (6,991)
nEBEBERE (10,264) (9,531) (12) M (1,885) (2,940) 418 443 (11,743) (12,029)
*RE
BE 37,666 38,178 - - 511 589 2,944 3,258 41,121 42,025
cRARE (6,097) (6,290) - - - - - - (6,097) (6,290)
FnPaEas (6,097) (6,290) - - - - - - (6,097) (6,290)

BERE 38,255 34,784 858 808 5,175 4,799 4,018 5,160 48,306 45,551
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MRERIFE AN T

2HEHBERBE
AIF Nippon Cable Feeler Feeler Mectron UFM @t
“E-ME —T-=F ZB-NE —T-Z4 ZB-NE —T-=F ZE-NF —T-=-F ZF-NFE T4
ARETR ARBETT ARETR ARBTT ARBTRE ARETT AR%TR ARETT AR%®TR ARBTL
e 33,169 17,935 129 137 6,449 2,533 310 88 40,057 20,693
BEERKA (36,153) (23,925 () - (5,918) (2,667) (872) (542)  (42,947) (27,134)
Hipfs (2,799) 2,879 (59) (60) (155) (503) (580) (673) (3,593) (4,115)
BREAEF (H1]) (5,783) (8,869) 66 77 376 (637) (1,142) (1,127) (6,483) (10,556)
FIBHAY - - (16) () - - - - (16) ©)
FRER/ (FB) (5,783) (8,869) 50 72 376 (637) (1,142) (1,127) (6,499) (10,561)
PMEARELERET/ (BE) (2,024) (3,104) 25 36 169 (287) (628) (620) (2,458) (3975)
Rl EENRERERGECERENEHEZHER
23V BENBERERGECERENRAEBECHER-
MEERRE
AIF Nippon Cable Feeler Feeler Mectron UFM st
“E-NF “T-=F ZB-NF —“T-=F ZB-NF —T-=F “E-NF “T-=F “B-NF —T-=F

ARBTR ARETL ARBTRT ARETL ARMTR ARETL AR®TR ARETL ARMTR ARETR

RZE-NE-A-BHNHA

EERE 34,784 43,653 808 736 4,799 5,436 5,160 - 45,551 49,825
EABR 9,254 - = - = - = 6,287 9,254 6,287
FREA/ (BE) (5,783) (8,869) 50 72 376 (637) (1,142) (1127 (6,499) (10,561)
R-E-MFE+-A=+—-AHK

HREEFE 38,255 34,784 858 808 5,175 4,799 4,018 5,160 48,306 45,551
RRA RS 35% 35% 50% 50% 45% 45% 55% 55% = -

REECENRE 13,389 12,174 429 404 2,329 2,160 2,210 2,838 18,357 17,576
R+=-A=+-BWEREE 13,389 12,174 429 404 2,329 2,160 2,210 2,838 18,357 17,576
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ARE R RAN T

20 A —EBERTANRE

—E—-MF —E—=4F
ARMET T ARET T
F1 9,604 -
NE = 32,260
DG EE (8,559) (26,321)
SMEEMEEmRE 162 3,665
FIR 1,207 9,604
RIZE—NFE+-A=+—HB AEER T BE AR BEEEZD:
g/
£ SMRIER TEEEB BEEER% BENE HERE
—E-MEK-E-ZF
tZA=t-H
FFG Europe Sp.A. ([FFG Europe |) B AT HERHENTRAREBEER  30.16% B3z %

FFG Europe R —ZT—=F — A —HEKMERE ERRBRESEEBRAR ([RE]) (ARazMBAR) - &&EH
BERAR ([€&]) (AARAREERARZEREZMBAR) FMEBRAR ([FE]) (H11.76%2 B %
ITIRABAARRA)SELIERARIFES ) MAIma Srl (—BBIZFE=77) D A#EH £930.16% * 15.05% * 14.79% K 40% -

REBNFFG Europe%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%  BARSREHFFG Europe BEBAFE N - At - AEER P BHRERAK
LA E YRS E N R
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MRE RN T

20 R—REEBERATINKRE (&)

BENTAMBEERREE
EERBEXRRE

—2-mE —F=F

AR T ARET T
FE
Re 32,989 29,794
HimehEE 408,867 546,909
MEEERE 441,856 576,703
MEEE (182,729) (154,049)
HhemeE(BEENESHE) (331,876) (490,040)
R EEE (514,605) (644,089)
ERE
BE 153,369 176,132
SREE (76,618) (76,902)
BEEFRE 4,003 31,844
2HUBRFE

—E—E —E—=4F

AR T ARET T
Wz 521,112 643,330
BEEMKAR (268,077) (375,887)
Bz (285,602) (352,836)
BRBAIEE (32,567) (85,393)
TS fiF 4,189 (1,877)
FAEE (28,378) (87,270)
oE— & A E EE (8,559) (26,321)
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AR RA N T

20 R—REEERQATNRE (&)
P EREE YT
AR EERER —BML AT AN EEEY S

HEEREE

—Z2-mF —F—=

ARETx ARET T
R—B—BANHBNEEFE 31,844 -
SEANB R = 91,494
H b 537 27,620
FREIE (28,378) (87,270)
R+T-A=+—BHNHPREEZEE 4,003 31,844
f& A== 30.16% 30.16%
R—REBE R RHMRE 1,207 9,604

RT=-ZB=+—HWKREE 1,207 9,604
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MRERIFE AN T

21 RERNESITNEMIBE - FTEBERED T
(a) &&KE
REEEEBXRANEE
—E-NmE+=-HA=+—H

EXRKEWRRE AHEE —E—mE
AR®ET T AR®ET T ARET T
EWEREZE (TEIEEMNE) 488,316 = 488,316
AT ECREE = 571 571
JEU R TB AR R B A A MR RIE IR A 7
— A& R R FUA 296 = 298
e — 211 & 5 R IE 12,525 = 12,525
JRE A B 4% 42 g A B R IE 532 = 532
YA EDERE 891 = 891
e — M E & R E M B A RIRIE 12,274 = 12,274
BR 1 SRTT T 30 134,681 = 134,681
ReERBLEEY (HE27) 262,751 = 262,751
IGERRR B8 = E A A E BBE % (KIsE27) 98,000 = 98,000
st 1,010,266 571 1,010,837
—E—=F+-"HA=+—H
B W R AfHE —E-=f
ARETT ARETT ARETIT
YRR Rize (TRIEBENFIE) 603,344 - 603,344
AIHHESMEE - 571 571
FEUS K TR B R BT B A 5] M ax AR A% A |
—M &R F R FIE 1,786 - 1,786
U — AW IR E T HIE 13,988 - 13,988
e 32 $ 2 NI B E] 1,912 - 1,912
FEM G & D EEFIR 1,498 - 1,498
FE UL — B A B BB A B FUB 12,495 - 12,495
PR I 1SR 1T 5K 60,167 - 60,167
RekReEHEY (H5E27) 211,829 - 211,829
1A HAPR AR 36 = (8 A &Y 2 BT 3R (BI3527) 24,000 - 24,000

st 931,019 571 931,590
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ARE R RAN T

21 RERE ST NERTAE-FAKEERELQF (&#)

(a)

M (H)
HEBERBXANER

BHERAIRNEMCEREE

—E—gF —E—=4F

AR¥T T ARETIT
ARG bR RIB R EFTER 410,211 449,133
FE B A I A B FE 1,716 1,029
R EEER A RIFIE 3,447 2,156
BN —MRAWE A G & LER AR —HEEE QR 508 784 321
BT — B E R RIRI B A R 3 E 1,128 293
& & EFIE 76 131
B8 (iE32) 402,079 367,752
ST 819,441 820,815
NN
BEEEBRANEE

EXRKEWRIE

—E—MF —E—=%F

ARET T ARET T
FEUER R MR e (T RIETEMNFIE) 14,655 8,694
AN R s 331,264 331,616
PR &SR IT1E 3K 2,370 2,052
Re MBS EEY (HiE27) 1,784 1,618
4T 350,073 343,980
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MRERIFE AN T

21 ZERETHNEMIAE-FAEEREDT (&)
(b) A (4)

BEEEXANERE
REBERNIERNEMSHER
—F—HmF —E=F
ARE TR ARBEF T
Hib AN ERTE A 13,934 20,454
&8 (H7iE32) 275,706 269,214
4t 289,640 289,668

22 EWRERF ZRERANTRE-AEBERAQT
REE b/

—E-mE —E—=F —E-F —E-=F

ARBT R ARBETT AR®ETR ARBTT

2 5 e WBR T R 500,438 589,106 14,631 8,671
B SRR TR B R E (36,544) (21,795) = -
Z 5 REWERT — 558 463,894 567,311 14,631 8,671
B RIR 25,667 19,209 227 9,713
Hih 24,422 36,033 24 23
RN e RBNFIRART 513,983 622,553 14,882 18,407

AEE—RETHEPIEIQ0RGEN AEENRAHELREE TN KEEERER/LEER —FRIY

MR
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ARE R RAN T

22 EWERF RERANRE-LXEBRAEQT (&)
RoE-—MER-—E—=—F+-A=+—0 BSRKEXLEKSIERIBENERITOT
KEH KA

—E-mEF —E-=F —E-NF —E-=F
AR¥ T AREFTT ARET ARBETTT

- 30K 383,483 488,597 14,631 8,671
31-60% 5,141 6,679 - -
61-90% 11,542 13,683 - -
91— 180K 20,366 21,392 - -
180K A £ 79,906 58,755 - -

500,438 589,106 14,631 8,671

REENE HEYERBIEAREABLD A AR108,229,0007T (ZZT—=4: AR¥110,084,000)7T) #) FEU AR K -
ZFER_T-NOF+-A=1t—HEAHKRE MAKEALERLFLREBRRE SEEZFEHNEZRK
ERNEBEZER ERMLMBEERTHRR EER/RSTHAEBESHRBAINRD - AEEY Bl SERTE
ESREEFEEE

AEECBHREL REENEZEKREROREDTOT

rEE
—F-mF —E=F
ARMT T ARBTT
0—30K 21,658 27,521
31—60K 5,141 6,679
61—90K 11,542 13,683
91—180K 20,336 21,391
180K A | 49,552 40,810

108,229 110,084
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MRERIFE AN T

22 BWIRR RERANRE-FKEEREARF (4)

HE-_Z—NF+-A=+—H TEBAHARKE36,544,0007T (ZF— =4 : AR¥21,795,0007T) 1 Z 5 FE YR
PR IBRRE L VE B - BB IR B EN B FRIAEZ S RRRBAVBRBNES - 2SR EGAENRREDT -

—F-RmE —F-=F
AR T ARET T
0—30% 641 3,849
31—60K _ _
61—90% _ _
91—180K 30 1
6E B E 35,873 17,945
36,544 21,795

AEEE S ERNRFRBERENEZSHNT
—2-—mF —F=F
AR¥T T ARETF T
wn—HA—H 21,795 23,240
FEUR SRIR R (B B 15,306 2,649
F NS B E UL E] B i 3H A 8 Uk (557) (4,094)
R+-—A=+—H 36,544 21,795

FEUGRERER BN R EREFAGERERN R EEER ] A (ME7) - REBEERMEORE-—RE
TEHATREUR D BEHNR & B 8K o

R-F-—MFE+_A=1t—H0 ARALEREBEZIRUEFRBREER (T —=F %) -
A=+—B ARFANEZREEREIRBRAIBE( - —=F &) -

Z—UFE+=

EHREER I EBEEGANEMEN TS REEE-
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ARE R RAN T

22 BWERF RERFANREB-XEBRAD T (&)

23

FEWBRSR - & RN AN REENR T EEGHE:

REE ¥ /N

—E-mEF —E-=F —E-NF —E-=F

AR¥ T ARETIT ARET R ARETIT

AR 479,582 592,047 - -
E 17,980 12,419 3,303 425
BUT 11,329 14,917 11,327 14,912
Hig 5,092 3,170 252 3,070
513,983 622,553 14,882 18,407

RBEAH BN EERRAS LA RRKSIRMNIREE - AN & EY B5 5 E A ERmERER-

AHtHESRMEE

—E—gF —ET—=4F

ARE T ARET T
n—A—H 571 -
NE = 571
R+-—A=+—H 571 571
R—R3E LT RRIMRMN ZIKE 571 571
JEUR — B W% E H A 12,525 13,988
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MRERIFE AN T

23 AtHESRMEE &)

R-F-—NFE+-_A=+t—H AL ESRMEERREATER

£18 MR E R FEEK FEEBITROFERE BEEER
FFG Werke GmbH = BLERDET A T4 RS RE 67,500 13.5%
(TFFG Werke |) BT EMKERER T RLEE
AR 75 o

FFG WerkeD Bl ffE - €K - KE L SEBEBR AR (—BBILE =77 ) HEB H143.75%  33.75% * 13.50% 5.9.00% %

RZZE—NF+ A =+—H "  REMRFFG Werke}2 it —%1,654,0508 7t (& i AR #¥12,525,00070) (ZF—=
4 11,654,050 T (HHE R AREE13,988,0000T) VMR RER  ZERAERKE 2ERBIREREE-

MRZZE—MFE+ANHE FFG WerkeHi XX F] 7 FEARTEAL IR » R UL - REXR B BLFFG Werke 2 548 & FT R M2
AR BB oK #8258 T8 810,600,00081 7T (#8E R A R #79,030,0007T) R /TIER - R - —MFE+-_A=+—H"
RBEBE R Ll SRITIEIR - 48 ©%8226,00080 7T (FHE R ARE1,680,00007T) « REEE B 1% - RE#E — SIRHEIRITHE
R-MR-ZE—AFRERITERTNASERRA 6,464,00080 7T (FE N AR 48,190,0007T) °

RIE—=F+"A=+H XEEELTHRASE A2,800,0008 7T (4 A R#23,673,0007T ) B SRITIER (K - LAYE
RETIRITHEMRFFG WerkelREWIEESBEE - R E2—NE+_A=+—HB KECTHET A BEER K £
% %82,745,00081 7T (8 & 7 A R ¥20,466,0007T ) °

R-ZFE-—NMFE+-_A=1+—H B8 LARTERKMAATRFINAT(ZT—=F 8) -

EEERSAREEFFG WerkeXt BME AT E NAZEHIRE At R=F—NF+-A=1+—H0 ZREC ARSI
RAFHESREE-

RZTB—MFE+-HA=+—8 RFFG WerkeZ JF L IR AKRE ZFREE/ARKES71,000T (ZT—=F: AR
571,0007C)  JhAARREZS) RRAREGEAFERNEEEN UWHESRREAFEREAIEFE- X
SERESIMEEZRE -
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ARE R RAN T

24 EE-FKKE

25

—F-NmE —FB—=F

ARETx ARET T

Rk 103,419 124,777
R 68,470 69,931
2K 103,064 94,995
274,953 289,703

B (17,696) (10,687)
257,257 279,016

R BAZRBER WK ] BFEK AR A RES68,176,0007T (ZF —=4F : AR #956,548,0007T) (Hi&E

7) e

Bl (BN BFANIRRE-AEE

—E—MF —F—=
ARET T AREFIT
BESE YA INGERER MR ERER 210,070 173,630
B TIREE R (220,376) (198,938)
(10,306) (25,308)
—E—-MF —E—=%F
AR¥T T ARETIT
JEIE XE P FRIR 32,494 24,651
B AR P RIE (42,800) (49,959)
[ENEFA#TIRFIE S5 (10,306) (25,308)

R-FE-OF+t-A=1+—0 BREFTEREFLHANIEFANRER
AR #7,207,0007T) °

B AR#12,3250007T (ZE—=4:
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A RN
26 REIMBITER—AXEERAKA T
AEME b/
—E-mE —E—=F —E-F —E-=F
AR¥T ARETTT AR¥T T ARETT
R HIIEIRIT R 134,681 60,167 2,370 2,052

27

ZEFRRIBNAKBERMEMEANEZIRECERLMNBERMEFRRBITNTR - BRFAR —FREH A

12 [E 7E F F2£0.4%

TE-=F:04%)5T R -

BERBRITER-FKERELQF

rEH AAF
—E-ImF —T—=F —E-NEF —Z—=
AR®T T ARBFT ARET T ARETT
RITRFHERE 111,976 41,278 1,784 1,618
RHRITER 150,775 170,551 = -
BehBEE&EED 262,751 211,829 1,784 1,618
MNEHEEE=MANERER 98,000 24,000 = -
360,751 235,829 1,784 1,618
(@ WITAFHERe RHTEREVGHREBE=EANTEBRFERA T EEE:
rEE ¥ /N
—E-mEF —E—=F —E-nEF —E-=F
AR¥T T ARBT T ARET T AREFTT
AR 357,423 231,732 2 204
ET 1,887 3,016 467 636
BT 957 318 955 317
Hip g 484 763 360 461
360,751 235,829 1,784 1,618




107 XEEBRZERBERIR —F—NFEFH

AR RA N T

27 BERBITEBR-—AXXEBRADT (&)
b) EHETERBERERERA2I% (CE—=F:260%) BEEZR—Z={HAR3IH-

(0) %ﬂﬁAﬁﬁlﬁﬁ_ﬂ_ﬂﬂE’JEHﬂﬁ K BBRFFENT235%E275% ( ZF—=4F:2.85%%3.25%) - BT KR

28 RA-AEBRAQF

B#HEE [ERES
(F5) AREF T
SREE0.01EBTHLER
SERE
R-E—=%F—A—H —E—=%F+-A=+—H"
—E-NF-A—HEZE—NF+=-_A=+—H 1,000,000 10,211

ERITRAE
R-B—=f—A—R —F-=4+-A=+—8H-
—EMFE-A-ARE-REF A=+ —H 403,200 4,022
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b &N
29 BE-AFAEBRAQT
TEE
HinbitE
¥
RO HEE ERfEE — BB BrmE B’E REEAN @it
ARETRE AR¥TR ARETn AR®Tn AR%®Tn AR¥TR AR¥ETx
R-E-=%—-8-8 122,601 77,338 35,834 9,089 (3,154) 416,159 657,869
BITRE (40,320) - - - - - (40,320)
FRE - - - - - 36,868 36,868
SE—EBE AT
HEh2EKmE - - 3,665 - - - 3,665
EMHEES - - - - 10,89 - 10,896
RZE—=F+-A=1+—-H 82,281 77,338 39,501 9,089 7,742 453,027 668,978
BRE - - - - - (44.352) (44,352)
FREF - - - - - 101,313 101,313
D — B E R
HEb2EUE - - - - 162 - 162
ERBEER - - - - (3,428) - (3,428)
RZE-NFE+=-A=1+—H 82,281 77,338 39,501 9,089 4476 509,988 722,673
B3 -

0] *E%Fﬁ%ﬁ%@ﬂiﬁ(*ﬂ/_\* ER3 AR A RIERT) F22E FE34Q)M% AR F FER KR 5 B RS T IR - R
FEERMRNRE 2 BERARAEINERBEEBEBIETIMOER TN RERDEERIRMS RS FERER-

(i) BAREBEEREARRARNNEBMEXZMARAR LTAAEEETHARNEES AR THZEERTROBBHOHER
AEHBA R R R E A

(i) —REBREEXBEAFEBRETEDAERERL
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SE-MEER

AR RA N T

29 BE-AEBRARQT (&)

30

b NN
BB BEE HAihfFE RBBEF st
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
RN-ZTE—=%—H—H 123,101 8,941 48,655 180,697
BERR B (40,005) - - (40,005)
EHmEER - (1,309) - (1,309)
FRERE - - (2,095) (2,095)
R-ZE—=%+=-A=+—H 83,096 7,632 46,560 137,288
EAR B - - (44,352) (44,352)
EHmEERE - 341 - 341
F R F - - 43,872 43,872
R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—H 83,096 7,973 46,080 137,149
AR HtEAREREAERA - AXEEREADQT
rEHE RAF
—E-F —T-=F —E-F TE-=F
ARET T ARBT T ARET T ARETT
B I RNER 204,785 218,424 9,129 4,365
RERFWEMNZS 118,682 161,632 370 11,780
H{th T 3k08 41,847 33,308 = -
JEETRA X 44,897 35,769 4,435 4,309
410,211 449,133 13,934 20,454
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MRE RN T

30 BN HttBEAREREAERA - KB RARQT (4)

AEE—REFROEORNEEH - R-T—NFR-_T—=F+_A=+—RH BFENEXOEREITET :

KEH ¥ /N
—E-mEF —E—=F —E-NF —E-=F
AR®T T AREFTT AR¥T AREFTT
BRHA- 30K 116,788 147,068 9,129 4,365
31—60K 57,515 47,603 = -
61—90K 4,657 9,841 = -
91—180K 9,853 10,450 = -
180K A F 15,972 3,462 = -
204,785 218,424 9,129 4,365

RN BB R ESTER AT EBEE:

KEH ¥ /N
—E-mEF —E—=F —E-NEF —E-=F
AR®T T AREFTT AR¥T ARBEFTT
AR 388,246 423,231 = -
E 11,029 8,464 3,104 3,092
BT 6,368 13,124 6,292 13,049
BT 4,568 4,314 4,538 4,313
410,211 449,133 13,934 20,454
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AR iE

31 RERB-FKH

—2-mF —T-=%
ARMET T AREFIT
n—A—H 6,774 6,702
FEEME 6,766 4,936
) R (7,211) (4,864)
R+-—A=+—8H 6,329 6,774
32 BE-FAEBERARQT
KEE b /N
—E-NF —E—= —E—NEF —E2—=F
ARET R ARET T ARET T ARETIT
EIEG
— B (MiEE) 125,331 90,115 122,435 88,865
— I (MEEDb)) 276,748 277,637 153,271 180,349
BEE®E 402,079 367,752 275,706 269,214
AEEEENERMNEBEDT
rEE RAF
—E-mE —E—= —E—MEF —E—=fF
ARET T ARBT T ARET T AREBFT
R EF1.83%% FF1.80%%E EF1.83%F FE180%E
6.72% 6.72% 3.60% 3.05%
R-ZE—NFE+-_A=+—H AEEEENEEBERLNT:
REE FA/N|
—E-mEF —E—=F —E—NEF —E—=fF
AR®T T ARETIT ARET T ARETIT
—FR 402,079 367,752 275,706 269,214
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332 BE-FAKEBRARQT (&)

RHEEZRAERARNFEES -
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EEENREEATIEEE:
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—E-mEF —E—=F —E-nEF —E-=F
AR¥T T AREFTT AR¥ T ARBEFTT

BT 78,949 96,956 58,572 76,646
ETT 323,130 270,796 217,134 192,568
402,079 367,752 275,706 269,214

RZE—NF+_A=+—8 TrEBE T RERNEERE:

REE
—2-mF —T=%F
AR T ARET T
/? @J ﬂ —_%_— iéf N

——F 2| Hf 692,723 658,958

RZZE—NF+-A=+—8 AEEEFERMELYARES262,0007T (Hi14) (ZZ2—=4F: AR¥5,394,0007T) B9+
AR RREELSOARE10,674,0007T (FIEE15) (ZE—=F 1 E)NEF UEREERN —RBTHRE -R-T—NF
+ZA=+—H AEBEEHHARE2896,0007T (=T —=4F: ARE1,250,0007T) 2 ZEH KIFRTRLE -

T—NE+-A=+—H AAFHNIRTERARK152,9750007T ( ZF—=4F: AR #103,660,0007T) J5 & & B &R

TH AN TR EEREREEER Edh ARY122,4350007T (—T—=4: AR¥88,8650007T) D&M -

RIB-—NFE+-A=+—HB FARFAERETHE AR ERMNRITAE ARM235582000T (ZF—=F: AR¥
265,215,0007T ) R A A HELR - AR A R#126,382,0007T (—F — =% : AR98,538,0007T) 24L& A -

R-IZ—ME+-A=+—8 " WBQRMEELERARE220,000,0005T ( ZZ—=4: AR¥225000,0007T) * ARITE
TIRHER BRERCEBHAARES211000C (ZT—=4F )

RZZE—WF+ZA=+—H ARA—REZIHARAIMNRITERARES,1350007T (ZF—=4F : AR#35,028,0007T)
RUEEASER-

—FRINNRERREARTRTNFERERE ZFRRAN T NFAZEANEIESE-
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AR RA N T

33

EEFFEHR -AEE

REFIBEEREEHBEENTHOT
AEHE
—EF-mF —EF=F
AR¥ET T ARETIT
EEMIREE
— & 1218 B R E H R R IE B & 6,144 4,520
REMIRAE:
—BR12E A B WL MEREREEE - -
— B2 A AW EIREETRIEES E 16,118 18,775
16,118 18,775
FARBRLEFRESHEENER N T
AEH
AR¥T T ARET T
n—A—H 4,520 4,541
REEE2EBERATA (1K) 1,624 1)
R+-—A=+—H 6,144 4,520
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MRE RN T

SEEMSH-—AK5E (@)

HEE
e

BEBARE RERE FRBE REBE @t
ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETx

R-ZE-WE—-A—H 3,243 377 921 4,541
RGAZEWREERA (AR) FTA (18) 1 (14) 1)
R-ZEBE-ME+=-A=1+—H 3,225 388 907 4,520
RGAZEWREERA (R) FTA 1,495 224 (95) 1,624
R-ZEBE-ME+-A=+—H 4,720 612 812 6,144

FR-EEHBRABNAZSH MO :

FEHE
—E-mEF —T—=fF
AR%T R ARBTTT
n—H—H 18,775 23,180
AR (2,657) -
HE—HHB AR = (4,405)

R+-—A=+—H 16,118 18,775
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AR iE

3B EEMBH—AEE (&)

AEH

FEEBL R

] 23 TR 5 R 49
EEREEE EnH ES Ao et

ARET T ARETIT ARET T
N-—ZE—=%—HF—8 18,775 4,405 23,180
HE—HWBAF - (4,405) (4,405)
R-E—=%+=-A=+—H 18,775 - 18,775
BB (2,657) - (2,657)
R-E-—NFE+=-A=+—H 16,118 - 16,118

RE-ZFZLF+-ARNARGH (FEARKAMBEEEMESTZERAR) - B -FTTN\F-A-HERPEK
MHRARRAEFIMEE EEMNOBR S BIRI0%N R RGRBIMEN EAR _TTLF+ - A=+—"HENA
Fe i BEINEIREE 2 RUARETARKIHE A RAREZFEMRE - WAKEM S - BATER5%
EEAMARSRIREREFTERIZMBRARAR _ZZNF-A—BRELEZ BRI D IR SHATRHH -

RZF-—MFE+ZA=+—H AKEHEAREAHRARBIENAREEA8,429,0007T (=T — =% AKR¥50,855,000
7C) AT B R SO ) o f 7 B R FE AR M FE N AT BE IR S R 2 AR 18 - MU R IESRIEE R IR B EE -

ZERBEEENZHENT

—E—0F —F—=

AR¥T ARBTT
R TRBIEE & -
—ET—mF - 6,142
—T—hF 1,590 1,595
—ZE-RF 16,755 16,482
—T—+tF 13,043 14,758
—E-N\F 6,946 11,878
—ET-NF 8,648 -



4 EEFRBRE

REEBZERERAIE —FE—HFEFH

MRE RN T

—E—-{F —E—=4F
AR¥T T ARBFTT
B P15 554 A 7 125,071 54,388
?%%’é .
— M AR (P RE14) 943 943
— W% BB REETE (KiF15) 28,060 27,046
—REWMEITE (H:16) 20 21
— A EEE (MEE17) 701 675
SiEEERFEEE (ME19) 2,458 3,975
— o — B E A EEE (MEE20) 8,559 26,321
—HEWE BERZESE (ME7) 296 287
—HE—FHWBAR R —HEE AR ZEE = 9,742
—FLEIWA (HI5E6) (9,995) (5,363)
— W BER (M) 9,174 7,964
LEESE2Y (TREREBHFERGEAREMELZ%) -
—-FE 21,759 75,529
—ERERR - e RIBFIA 109,177 (7,326)
—EWEPEHIENRIE (7,843) 3,251
— RS AERR A RIFRIE 1,380 (1,912)
—ElR—HRRME AR RERIER AR RS R FHIE 1,490 588
—JERERR - A ERRIBE R ERT B R (46,030) 49,582
—-ENEPEHIENRE (7,159) 12,480
—JE SRR A RIFRIE 687 (4,869)
—ENEEERAFNIE 1,291 176
—EREERENRIE (55) 131
—H—FWREFR—EBEQRNB AR & 2,519 (12,312)
— N —ERRWEB A G RE&LER AR —EEE R RHIE 463 (1,590)
—REEAE (445) 72
BEMBRS 242,521 239,799
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AR RA N T

EEMBRE &)
MBS HREEN HEWE HERREMEREDE:

—F-mF =F—=
TEH ARMET T ARET T
BRTEDFE (MIFE15) 863 5,954
HEME  BEREEBE (Hi7) (296) (287)
HEWE  BE MREMEHE 567 5,667

35 ZARAE
BRERE M EmERNE2AFEEE N AEBRARFR_ZE—NF+_A=+—AfBEMIABEGE(ZT—=
Fim)o
36 FEiE
(@) BXREE
RBEMREFTHNERREENEARAZTESTAT -

—Z2-mF —F=F
AEE ARET T AREFT
BMTASEERL EMARGEAMERRBENEAT L
— UL R A 2% N AR A 743 984

(b) EEREERE
EEEERBERBA
REER AEERBE I HEZGCEHENARARZEERE X HBEITZAZWT

—Z2-mF —F=F
AR¥T T AREFIT
—FR 4,090 2,650
—FREAFR 241 54

4,331 2,704
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BRETFE2IFT M EESN AEBEREAMEATRNFARETUATRS

(a)
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MRE RN T

x5
NG @& REME —E—NEF —E-=F
AR¥T ARBEFTT
REEEXRHBRAA = ST YNC] HEEMD 682 720
(IRE=E%])
RESR 19,948 18,592
MMEZSDNERER REIER A A HEER 756 601
REN([REBR]) /NG|
KHER 49 4
HeUWA 15 65
REEZ(EA)BRAR EBEEZERAF RESER 44,434 87,352
(IREEBE (BH)])
MM R EEBFR AR EEN =N HEEM 3 8
(Tk#])
HLUWA 653 -
AF (RAFELEEY) AZQA HEER 90 45
RESMR 421 141
HeLUWA 26 -
Hangzhou Best Friend HEEm 6 12

Technology Co., Ltd.
([Best Friend J)
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AR iE

37 BEALIXRZ K& (&)

) X5 (#)

NCIEE 2REd REME —E-—NF —E-=F
AR¥ETR ARBETTT
SANCO Machine & Tools B R BAF] REEm 20,885 12,095
Co., Ltd. (ISANCO |)
Jobs Automazione REE—fH#E2 Gz HESEHR 198 -
S.p.A. ([Jobs ) opEEPNE
SIGMA technology S.rl FEE-HBE AR  KEBEEm - 4,622
([SIGMA 1) L INEERNE]l
Feeler Mectron RUNG HEER 37 140
REEm 1,051 1,049
HEBWA 36 -
UFM HREEHER HEEm 24 -
REEm 170
Sky Thrive Rambaudi S.rl  AKE-FEBERAE2 HEE® - 6
([Rambaudi]) L I)ENG]
Nippon Cable Feeler BEAH HEEm 4 8
XEEM 129 -
HalA 6 _
B 5 -
(a) LHMEBEXRZIMERIDBIEAR ZHREALIIMEEBGHRRE -

(b) THEWATHIRIERT K977 13 7€ 2 RN ULER -
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MRE RN T

37 BEALIXRZ K& @)

(b) #EER

DAERB & BRME —B-mE T =F
ARBTRT ARETX

REE% SRR R A B HRAER (@) 532 1,912
B HEMNRNR (M) (1,716) (1,029)

REEX (F#E) BEEERADA BHREMNER (b)) (3,447) (2,156)
R (e BREAA SE A2 ) EEL NG Hith U R R (Kt (b)) 258 152
SANCO EEG-PNET B HRUER (M) - 1,616
EHRNER (Kb)) (776) (321)

Best Friend RIEERARINBERE B HRURR (HiE@) 2 -
REmilk RIEERARIMBERE  ERUERR (M) 36 18
EHRNER (Kb)) (8) -

AIF (R HE 2 FEEH) RERT B HRUER (H3t@)) 470 1,093
ZEHRNER (Kb)) - @n

Feeler Mectron RERT EHRYEER (Hiit@)) 421 405
ZEHRMNER (Kb)) - (90)

UFM RERT ZEHRMNER (Hb)) (76) -
SIGMA AEB-FEBENFz  BHREER (HEE) 2,275 2,569

MEBAR
EHRMNER (Kb)) (200) (226)
SIGMA Machinery Co., Ltd AEB-MEBENF  BEHERNRR (M) (67) (67)

io)=PNG|



121 XEEBRZERERAR —F—HFEFH

AR RA N T

37 %ﬁ@*ix% &n\ﬂlﬁ?(‘éﬁ)
(o) %R (A)

ATEE 8% EEME —E-mFE  —T=F

ARBTRE ARETR

Jobs ARE-RBERRZ BHRUEN (HEEE) 403 330
i) =FNS]

H At U RN (B FE(b)) 9,596 -

B R EMIRR (KEb) (861) -

Rambaudi AEE-RBELARZ  EtEUER (D)) - 9,596
i) =¥NS

B aE

(@) BLERFRHE R SR A T RS QR AR 2 R E 2 M8 QR

RIOK - BEHRRBEERLRE -R_F—
7] o

) HHAEEM 2ERAREREEER

() EEEBAEHRMN

FRABEFRAMBIZEEABNMENT:

THHENS  AEE-—RETHEED
MER—FE-—=F+"A=+—H" LIlEHNKREAFD/RE+_@EA

—E—F =
AR®T T ARET T
o R E A ERL 4,078 3,440

38 ERQF
rﬁ% RIS REBE (BE
Y2 AR RAEERRATRSKERAT

39 Ini=] ﬁ E Tﬁglﬁ
BRETEE23PTIRBEE SN A AR RASE

ENEERREREGBERER

JERAR (—HREBEMKILZAR]) RERBZEXBRNHABRAR (—HR G EEMAK
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O FEHE

e e
REHEEG

BE+-A=1T—-HLEE

—F-TF ZF—% T ZT-=F ZE-0AF
ARBTT  ARBTT AREBTT AREBTT ARMTR

Uz 1,374,183 1,884,132 1,540,856 1,350,271 1,300,119
EF 355,535 439216 308,947 309,771 344,894
B B4 AV ) 193,806 197,032 60,440 54,388 125,071
ARAEREFEEAEMERER 158,746 153,690 42,022 36,868 101,313
BREFN-EXN(AR%ERT) 0.41 0.38 0.10 0.09 0.25
EEHEE

Rt+t=-—B=+—H

—EF-FF ZF—% ¥ ZT-=fF ZE-NF
ARBTT  ARBTRT ARBTT ARBTT AR¥TR

ETEEE 322,262 371,929 345,271 330,119 302,380
MEEEFE 318,503 332,239 339,800 361,656 440,433
BWEERRBAERE 640,765 704,168 685,071 691,775 742,813
% 7 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022
E] 614,341 678,346 657,869 668,978 722,673
PREFER 618,363 682,368 661,891 673,000 726,695
e =K 22,402 21,800 23,180 18,775 16,118

640,765 704,168 685,071 691,775 742,813
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